

Best Practice Guidelines: Effective Worker Participation in Hazard Assessments Alberta Workers' Health Centre, December 2015

About the Alberta Workers' Health Centre:

The Alberta Workers' Health Centre is a registered charitable, non-profit organization that supports all workers, unionized and non-unionized, who need assistance to help make their workplaces healthier and safer. Since 1983 it has done this through programs of education and training; research and information; assessment and support for workers across Alberta.

600, 12323 Stony Plain Road Edmonton, Alberta T5N 3Y5 780-486-9009 toll free: 1-888-729-4879 www.workershealthcentre.ca



This module includes two research documents that helped us in our work of examining barriers facing workers from being informed and engaged in the process of hazard identification, elimination and control. Together, they capture a large amount of new and pre-existing data and analysis in this field, and inform the other modules in the Best Practice Guidelines.

They draw on field observations of a variety of workplaces; face to face interviews with workers, supervisors, health and safety consultants and other 'experts'; focus groups with workers; a survey of over 2000 workers from across Alberta; reviews of published research articles; reviews of documents by health and safety agencies, and industry and labour organizations from across the world.

- A. Worker Participation in Hazard Assessments: Barriers and Opportunities in Alberta Workplaces Bob Barnetson
- B. Worker Participation in Hazard Assessments: Recommended Practices Darren Puscas

WORKER PARTICIPATION IN HAZARD ASSESSMENTS

Barriers and Opportunities in Alberta Workplaces

Dr. Bob Barnetson Associate Professor of Labour Relations Athabasca University

Research Paper 2013-01 May 2013

Alberta Workers' Health Centre 600, 12323 Stony Plain Road, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5N 3Y5 Phone: 780-486-9009 Toll Free: 1-888-729-4879 Fax: 780-483-7632 General inquiries: info@workershealthcentre.ca

Worker Participation in Hazard Assessments: Barriers and Opportunities in Alberta Workplaces

May 2013

Dr. Bob Barnetson Associate Professor of Labour Relations Athabasca University

This research paper was commissioned by the Alberta Workers' Health Centre. The author would like to acknowledge the contributions of Andrew King (University of Ottawa) Jason Foster (Athabasca University), Gord Jangula (University of Lethbridge), Marc Zweilling (Vector Poll), and Juliana Cortes, Daryl Richel and Kevin Flaherty (Alberta Workers' Health Centre). This research was carried out as part of a broader AWHC project on worker participation in the hazard assessment process.

Copies are available online at: www.workershealthcentre.ca

For further information, contact:

Alberta Workers' Health Centre 600, 12323 Stony Plain Road, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5N 3Y5 Phone: 780-486-9009 Toll Free: 1-888-729-4879 Fax: 780-483-7632 General inquiries: info@workershealthcentre.ca

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	6
HAZARDS, ASSESSMENT AND CONTROL	6
WORKER PARTICIPATION IN OHS	8
Methodology	9
WORKERS' EXPERIENCE OF HAZARD ASSESSMENT AND CONTROL IN ALBERTA WORKPLACES	9
BARRIERS TO WORKER OPPORTUNITIES TO PARTICIPATE	12
PACE OF WORK AND COMPENSATION SCHEMES	14
ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITATIONS	15
CARELESS WORKERS, SAFETY CULTURE AND SAFETY CLIMATE	16
BARRIERS TO WORKER CAPACITY TO PARTICIPATE	17
DEFINITION OF HAZARD	17
Size of firm	18
PRECARIOUS EMPLOYMENT	18
HAZARD ASSESSMENT TRAINING	18
BARRIERS TO WORKER WILLINGNESS TO PARTICIPATE	20
FEAR-BASED SILENCE	20
Employer-created silence	21
PACE OF WORK AND COMPENSATION SCHEMES	23
PRECARIOUS WORK AND WORKER VULNERABILITY	23
GENDER, DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT	24
SIZE OF ENTERPRISE	25
BARRIERS TO WORKER PARTICIPATION WHEN WORK CHANGES	25
CONCLUSION	26

Executive Summary

Alberta's *Occupational Health and Safety Code* requires employers to undertake hazard assessment and control activities and to engage workers in these processes. This paper identifies opportunities for and barriers to effective worker participation in the hazard assessment process in order to inform the development of a recommended practices guide for use by employers, government, unions and workers. The opportunities and barriers identified in this paper draw upon a review of research as well as Alberta interviewer-specific interviews, field observation and survey data.

Worker participation is central to hazard assessment. At the most basic level, worker participation is a right set out in provincial legislation as well as international agreements. Worker participation in occupational health and safety (OHS) activities has been shown to be effective in improving health and safety. In addition, worker participation is necessary to balance employers' tendency to trade worker safety for profitability.

A 2012 survey of 2000 workers by the Alberta Workers' Health Centre (AWHC) suggests employer compliance with Alberta's hazard assessment and control requirements is uneven. Survey data indicated that 36% of employers seldom or never conducted hazard assessments. Only 19% of workers reported that their employer always involved them in the hazard assessment process, and approximately 30% of workers reported not being told about workplace hazards, including hazards that arise for changes in materials and processes. Few workers (18%) were moderately or very interested in being involved in OHS primarily because of lack of pay and influence. On the other hand, those who were involved in OHS were substantially more likely to be involved in hazard assessment, make a complaint and see action taken.

A number of recurring barriers to participation were identified in the literature review. The prevalence of complex subcontracting relationships results in a high percentage of small workplaces and piece-rate compensation systems that, in turn, impede worker participation. Employers' power to define what is considered a hazard, a tendency to blame workers for their injuries, pace of work and limited training may also create barriers to worker participation. Finally, the vulnerability of some workers to employer pressure and a culture of silence around workplace safety may limit worker participation in hazard assessment and control. In this context, worker concern over pay and lack of influence weakens the willingness to participate.

Strategies that might increase worker participation in hazard assessment and control in Alberta include:

- employers consistently performing hazard assessments and involving workers in them combined with state enforcement activity to identify and target noncompliant employers,
- employers creating formal OHS structures (e.g., joint health and safety committees) and allocating adequate working time for workers to participate in hazard assessment activities,
- employers creating systems to identify instances when work has changed and a new hazard assessment is required,
- employers providing high-engagement worker and supervisor training in hazard assessment, including language/literacy-appropriate materials and periodic retraining and/or reinforcement,
- employers taking action to control identified hazards and communicating such action to workers, and

 employers stopping reprisals for hazard identification and disentangling hazard assessments from disciplinary matters.

Some workplace characteristics create additional challenges to effective worker participation in hazard assessment. Altering payment schemes and bid requirements may improve the opportunity and willingness of workers in small firms to participate in hazard assessment and control. Making available outside OHS resources and enforcing employer compliance increase the opportunity, capacity and willingness of workers in small firms to participate in hazard assessments. Vulnerable workers (e.g., temporary foreign workers, precarious workers) may benefit from meaningful state enforcement of employers' obligations to conduct hazard assessments. Greater and more positive employer responsiveness to worker concerns may also reduce the risk workers associate with raising safety concerns. Mandating joint health and safety committees (JHSCs) would also create a structure through which vulnerable workers could route concerns about workplace hazards.

Introduction

Alberta's Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Code requires employers to conduct hazard assessments and to engage workers in this process. Yet there are troubling questions about the degree to which Alberta workers meaningfully participate in workplace hazard assessment and control practices. Consider this fatality:

On July 8, 2008, 40-year-old Finning International Ltd. employee was struck and killed by a large dump truck at an open pit oil sands mine near Fort McMurray, Alberta.ⁱ Factors contributing to the worker's death include the employer failing to repeat a hazard assessment when a work process changed and failing to include affected workers in the hazard assessment and control process.

This incident suggests (and subsequent research substantiates) that the practice of employee participation in hazard assessment and control may fall short of legislative requirements. This research paper identifies the barriers to and the opportunities for meaningful worker participation in the hazard assessment process, including hazard assessments that are required when work changes.

This mixed-methods inquiry includes an examination of the literature on worker participation in OHS activities and hazard assessment as well as Alberta specific interviews, field observation and survey data. The results are presented in four main sections: worker opportunities to participate, worker capacity to participate, worker willingness to participate, and challenges to worker participation when work changes.

Hazards, Assessment and Control

Alberta's Occupational Health and Safety Code contains Canada's most detailed and prescriptive requirements around hazard assessment and control.ⁱⁱ Alberta requires employers to carry out a hazard assessment of a work site prior to the commencement of work and whenever work changes:

7(1) An employer must assess a work site and identify existing and potential hazards before work begins at the work site or prior to the construction of a new work site.

7(2) An employer must prepare a report of the results of a hazard assessment and the methods used to control or eliminate the hazards identified.

7(4) An employer must ensure that the hazard assessment is repeated

- (a) at reasonably practicable intervals to prevent the development of unsafe and unhealthy working conditions,
- (b) when a new work process is introduced,
- (c) when a work process or operation changes, or
- (d) before the construction of significant additions or alterations to a work site.

When activities and conditions change frequently (e.g., moving between locations, working outdoors), employers may rely upon a field-level hazard assessment done at the beginning of each day or job.ⁱⁱⁱ

Alberta requires worker participation in the hazard assessment and control process. Employers must also inform workers about any hazards identified and the hazard elimination or control strategies the employer has implemented:

8(1) An employer must involve affected workers in the hazard assessment and in the control or elimination of the hazards identified.

8(2) An employer must ensure that workers affected by the hazards identified in a hazard assessment report are informed of the hazards and of the methods used to control or eliminate the hazards.

Finally, Alberta stipulates the hierarchy of controls employers must use when eliminating or controlling a hazard:

9(1) If an existing or potential hazard to workers is identified during a hazard assessment, an employer must take measures in accordance with this section to

(a) eliminate the hazards, or

(b) if elimination is not reasonably practicable, control the hazard.

9(2) If reasonably practicable, an employer must eliminate or control a hazard through the use of engineering controls.

9(3) If a hazard cannot be eliminated or controlled under subsection (2), the employer must use administrative controls that control the hazard to a level as low as reasonably achievable.

9(4) If the hazard cannot be eliminated or controlled under subsections (2) or (3), the employer must ensure that the appropriate personal protective equipment is used by workers affected by the hazard.

9(5) If the hazard cannot be eliminated or controlled under subsections (2), (3) or (4), the employer may use a combination of engineering controls, administrative controls or personal protective equipment if there is a greater level of worker safety because a combination is used.

Alberta's requirements around hazard assessment and control are more detailed and stringent than those found in British Columbia,^{iv} Ontario,^v Quebec,^{vi} Saskatchewan^{vii} and the federal jurisdiction.^{viii} Alberta's definition of a hazard is also broad: "a situation, condition or thing that may be dangerous to the safety or health of workers".^{ix} There are many different kinds of hazards, which vary depending upon the kind of work being done.^x While there is no definitive typology of hazards, a useful categorization of hazards includes:

- Physical hazards are unsafe conditions that can lead to injury and illness. These include the structure of the workplace (e.g., machinery, electricity, heights, working surfaces), workplace events (e.g., fire, falling objects), and workplace conditions (e.g., noise, vibration, temperature, radiation, air quality).
- Biological hazards stem from working with animals, plants and people. They include bacteria, viruses, and fungi sometimes transferred via contact.
- Chemical hazards include liquid, solid and gaseous substances such as acids and poisons and substances that could lead to fire or explosion, as well as dusts and fumes from various processes.
- Ergonomic hazards occur when a body is strained by work, working conditions and the type of work. These include repetitive and/or awkward movements, being required to use too much force, improperly designed or adjusted workstations, frequent lifting and inappropriate lighting.

• Psychosocial hazards affect a worker's mental well-being or mental health and may have physical effects by overwhelming a worker's coping mechanisms and impacting the worker's ability to work in a healthy and safe manner. Examples include fatigue and stress (sometimes reflecting employer decisions around hours of work, shift patterns, pace of work and staffing levels) as well as bullying, violence and working alone.

These hazardous conditions can result in incidents, which include injuries, near misses and potential injuries. The purpose of worker participation in the recognition of hazards is to assist in efforts to eliminate or control those hazards and thereby prevent incidents.

Worker Participation in OHS

The internal responsibility system (IRS) for occupational health and safety has been widely adopted by Canadian jurisdictions. The three main principles of IRS are employer responsibility, worker participation and government enforcement.^{xi} Consistent with this model, Alberta's hazard assessment and control provisions require employers to conduct a hazard assessment and control for any hazards discovered. Employers must also provide workers with an opportunity to participate in these activities and inform workers of the outcomes. The government is responsible for compelling hazard assessment and control (including adequate worker participation) should employers fail to meet their obligations.

Worker participation is central to OHS in general and hazard assessment in particular. At the most basic level, worker participation is a human right set out in provincial legislation and international agreements. Worker participation in OHS activities are critical to identifying and addressing problems successfully. Employers typically do not know or control the production process well enough to identify and manage hazards without worker participation. Essentially, it is necessary to observe hazards as workers experience them in order to identify and control them effectively.^{xii}

Worker representation has been shown to be effective in improving health and safety. For example, survey data indicated that of the 56% of workers who reported unsafe working conditions, 79% saw their employer take steps to address the conditions. This appears to be particularly true when worker representatives are trained to practice "knowledge activism," a pragmatic combination of commitment, knowledge, strategy and experience and have access to external resources.^{xiii} Finally, worker participation is necessary to balance employers' tendency to trade worker safety for profitability.^{xiv} In Canada, joint health and safety committees (JHSCs) are an important mechanism of worker participation on OHS. JHSCs are not mandatory in Alberta and are predominately found on unionized worksites.^{xv}

Broadly speaking, worker participation in OHS tends to be more effective in larger workplaces and in the presence of trade unions.^{xvi} Workers in smaller firms and in workplaces reliant upon various subcontracting and outsourcing arrangements are less likely to have access to participatory practices such as formal consultation.^{xvii} Greater worker participation in OHS efforts is also associated with better OHS outcomes in both non-union^{xviii} and unionized settings.^{xix} By contrast, passive OHS efforts are generally found ineffective at reducing injury.^{xx} Effective IRS arrangements typically entail adequate training and information, opportunities to investigate and communicate with other workers, and channels for dialogue with management about existing problems and planned changes.^{xxi} The more of these features that exist in a workplace, the more worker participation is a meaningful influence on hazard detection and abatement.^{xxii}

Methodology

This mixed-methods study combines field observations, interviews, and survey work with a literature review to identify barriers to and opportunities for effective worker participation in hazard assessment in Alberta. The literature review began with an asynchronous roundtable among five practitioners and academics to identify a list of potential barriers and opportunities to worker participation in hazard assessments. A review of the research in these areas generated a small number of additional barriers and opportunities.

At the same time as the literature review was underway, the Alberta Workers' Health Centre (AWHC) staff completed 17 interviews with workers, managers and OHS professionals in Alberta. These interviews were generated via snowball sampling. Both male and female respondents were interviewed and respondent ages varied from 21 to 56 years old. Respondents worked in both white- and blue-collar jobs with job tenures ranging from three weeks to over 30 years. A number of respondents were recent immigrants. Additionally, AWHC staff conducted a 30-person focus group with shop stewards in the Alberta equipment-servicing sector and five days of field observations at Alberta worksites (primarily in the resource-extraction industry).

The AWHC also contracted a private research firm to conduct an online survey of 2000 Alberta workers aged 18 and older about their experiences with hazard assessment in Alberta workplaces. The online sample was based upon a large, recruited panel of thousands of Albertans that reflects the characteristics of the province's entire adult population. Prior testing of panel results against random sampling results suggests panel results closely mirror the results found via random-sampling.

The results of the survey, interviews and field observations were then combined with the literature to generate a comprehensive discussion of the barriers and opportunities to worker participation in hazard assessments in Alberta. Drafts of these findings were circulated among the roundtable participants until consensus was reached upon the content.

Workers' Experience of Hazard Assessment and Control in Alberta Workplaces

While Alberta's legislative requirements around hazard assessment and control are the most detailed and prescriptive in Canada, no publically available data exists regarding the degree of employer compliance with the requirements to conduct hazard assessments and involve workers in them.

A survey of 2000 Alberta workers was performed to determine worker experiences with hazard assessment and control. The survey found that 70% of workers reported knowing what a hazard assessment was and 75% of workers reported knowing they had a right to participate in the identification of unsafe work and work practices. Men were more likely than women to report this knowledge. Workers who reported regular exposure to 10 or more workplace hazards also reported greater knowledge about hazard assessment.

Table 1 shows that 64% of workers reported hazard assessments occurring at least monthly while 36% report hazard assessments occurring seldom or never.

Table 1. Frequency of Hazard Assessment

At least once a week	13%
At least once a month	23%
Seldom	26%
Never	10%

The frequency of hazard-assessment activity varies between workplaces, depending upon how frequently work changes. Hazard assessments were reported to occur more frequently in industries where work changes often as well as in larger workplaces (100+ employees) and in workplaces where workers reported routinely facing 10 or more hazards. That said, that 36% of respondents reported hazard assessments occurring seldom or never suggests potential employer noncompliance with s.7 of Alberta's *OHS Code*.

Section 8(1) of Alberta's *OHS Code* requires employers to meaningfully involve workers in the hazard assessment and control process. Table 2 shows that only 19% of workers report being always asked for their opinion or input about how to prevent potential injuries or deal with hazards when work changes. A further 21% report frequently being asked for input while 45% of workers report being asked rarely or occasionally, and another 15% of workers say they are never asked. Workers who reported regularly facing 10 or more hazards in the workplace also reported much higher rates (53%) of "always" being asked for input when work changes.

Always	19%
Frequently	21%
Occasionally	27%
Rarely	17%
Never	15%

Table 2. Frequency Worker Input Sought When Work Changes

That only one in five workers reports always being asked for input into hazard assessment suggests significant employer noncompliance with s.8(1) of Alberta's *OHS Code*. Employers not soliciting worker input creates perhaps the most fundamental barrier to worker participation in the hazard assessment process.

Table 3 shows that between 41% and 52% of workers reported that they were very or moderately engaged in four behaviours that are consistent with hazard assessment and control activities. Interestingly, when the behaviours of workers who self-identified as "very or moderately" involved in OHS were segregated, those workers reported engaging in the four behaviours 99% or 100% of the time. While this may appear to be a tautology (i.e., involved workers report greater involvement), in fact it suggests that the

literature (above) indicating worker involvement improved OHS efforts is applicable in Alberta.

	Very	Moderately
Looking into the safety risks for visitors, cleaners or maintenance workers who may not often be in the workplace	18%	24%
Investigating whether anything in the equipment, products or materials you handle could harm you or employees who work nearby	19%	24%
Deciding whether personal protective equipment should be used or worn when operating devices, working with potentially hazardous substances or in potentially dangerous conditions	21%	23%
Identifying any possible safety and health risks to co-workers or members of the public in the work you are doing	24%	29%

Table 3. Worker Involvement in Hazard Assessment and Control.

Section 8(2) of Alberta's *OHS Code* requires employers to inform workers of workplace hazards and control mechanisms, including when work changes. Approximately 80% of workers say new employees are advised of workplace hazards. Seventy-three percent of employees reported that a supervisor or other more experienced employee points out hazardous conditions that might result from work changing. Workers reporting that they regularly faced 10 or more hazards also reported being informed about hazards stemming from work changes 90% of the time.

The surveys revealed consistent industry-level differences. Workers who reported working in manufacturing, oil/mining and construction reported higher rates of employer compliance with Alberta's hazard assessment and control provisions. By contrast, workers who reported working in health and financial services reported lower levels of employer compliance.

Overall, the survey found that:

- 36% of workers reported hazard assessments occurring seldom or never,
- 59% of workers reported being occasionally, rarely or never asked for input in the hazard assessment of control process, and
- approximately 30% of workers reported that they are not told about hazards arising from new equipment or materials or when work changes.

These findings support anecdotal evidence that employers do not always comply with the hazard assessment and control requirements of Alberta's *OHS Code* and these forms of non-compliance limit the opportunities for workers to participate in the hazard-assessment. The reasons for employer noncompliance are unclear. These results might reflect the complexity and potential cost of worker involvement. It might be economically rational for employers to not do the hazard assessment, do them superficially, or to hire out the assessment (and thereby minimize worker input). An interview with an OHS

professional highlighted how the tension employers perceive between safety and profitability can undermine their commitment to identifying and controlling hazards:

Individually, supervisors are sincere. Certainly they don't want to see anybody hurt. If I look at it from a corporate standpoint, I don't know if it is sincere. They are in business. ... When push comes to shove, it is (about) productivity. You are not going to find any company that says anything different. They are in business. If you put safety before everything else, you are not going to stay in business (Interview 13).

It should be noted that employer noncompliance with the Alberta's legislative requirements for hazard assessment and control occurs in a context of widespread employer noncompliance with other Alberta OHS requirements.^{xxiii} Alberta's lack of effective OHS enforcement means noncompliance is effectively invisible, unless a worker is badly injured or killed and an investigation ensues.^{xxiv}

Barriers to Worker Opportunities to Participate

When hazard assessments are conducted, four clusters of issues appear to further limit workers' opportunities to participate in the hazard assessment process. These include the organization of work, the pace of work and compensation schemes, environmental factors, and notions of worker carelessness and safety culture.

Organization of work

The manner in which work is organized can affect workers' opportunity to participate in hazard assessment. At the macro-level, the trend towards greater use of subcontracting arrangements is of particular interest. Increasing subcontracting undermines traditional organizational structures (i.e., a single employer, centralized management, common conditions and rules of works) and results in work being completed by a mixture of permanent and temporary employees as well as contractors (both companies and individuals).^{xvv} These organizations may also operate (on) multiple worksites where their "workers" interact with workers and contractors employed by other organizations. In 2012, Alberta had the highest ratio of business locations to population in Canada.^{xxvi}

Subcontracting arrangements sometimes entail a loss of in-house OHS knowledge, the devolution of managerial responsibility for management tasks, and a loss of clarity as to who is responsible for what.^{xxvii} A loss of expertise and oversight among central and line managers may create internal political dynamics that reduce worker participation in hazard assessments:

The more experienced person you are on the job, the more they hate to have you involved in the process. Because your experience shows that the supervisors don't know what they are talking about (Focus Group).

The devolution of managerial responsibility for management tasks and loss of clarity as to who is responsible for what can be particularly acute when work is embedded in horizontally (i.e., multiple employers) and vertically (i.e., multiple levels of subcontracting) complex relationships.^{xxviii} Focus group data suggested that, in these circumstances, contractors may decide to forego hazard assessments altogether:

We get told that the safety program is site specific. We don't have our own specific safety meetings or (Joint Hazard Assessments), we are to follow what is at the customer's site. If the customer's site doesn't specify JHA's, you don't have to do them, but don't get hurt because then you can be disciplined if they aren't done (Focus Group).

On large worksites, the sheer number of parties involved in performing the work may reduce the opportunity for workers to participate in hazard assessment:

Sometimes due to lack of space, they gather only the foreman of each trade (for the hazard assessment). If the foreman wants to tell us what he remembers, he does. If not, then whatever (Interview 10).

One interview subject noted that his participation was limited to signing off on an assessment done by someone else, in part because his knowledge of what work he will be doing is limited:

Right now a work colleague makes a hazard assessment, I have to co-sign it and read it and see that it mentioned everything that we're going to do. So all I do now is just confirm and sign it. ...I don't make the assessment because I don't know what the task is going to be (Interview 5).

During field observations it was found that some organizations were reluctant to share their hazard assessment processes and policies with other contractors. This proprietary perspective on hazard assessment materials may impede the willingness of organizations whose operations interact from conducting joint hazard assessments.

Sub-contracted workers appear to be at greater risk of workplace injury than employees and may be less likely than employees to be consulted on OHS matters.^{xvix} This may reflect cost-minimization pressure on subcontractors that is generated (or intensified) by the competitive bidding process.^{xvx} It should be noted that some industries require subcontractors to meet OHS-related standards (e.g., processes, outcomes) in order to qualify for the bid process. It may be possible to shape such bid requirements to increase worker opportunities to participate in hazard assessments.

Subcontracting typically results in more, but smaller, firms. In 2012, 98.2% of Alberta businesses with Canada Customs and Revenue Agency payroll accounts had 100 or fewer employees, with 59.0% having fewer than 5 employees.^{xoxi} The literature suggests that smaller firms tend to have less knowledge of OHS and perform fewer OHS activities, perhaps due to a lack of time, resources and/or expertise as well as exemption from OHS regulation and/or enforcement and limited union presence.^{xoxii} Survey data reported that hazard assessment occurred more frequently in larger Alberta workplaces than in workplaces with fewer than 100 workers. Small business owners may also not see OHS as within their domain of responsibility (but rather a function of individual worker choices) and/or economically unfeasible to implement.^{xoxiii} These dynamics might constrain opportunities for worker participation in hazard assessment were found.

Jurisdictions such as Sweden have addressed small workplaces via the appointment of regional worker health and safety representatives.^{xxxiv} The applicability of this model to Alberta in unclear due to contextual differences, such as Alberta's low union density as well as state and employer hostility to union activity of any kind. Third-party OHS providers such as community groups or workers' health and safety clinics may provide a similar service.^{xxxv} Small firm heterogeneity (e.g., type of work, degree of engagement with other firms) introduces complexity in recommending means by which to enhance worker opportunities to participate in hazard assessment.^{xxxvi} Mandatory JHSCs may provide one means of enhancing worker participation in OHS generally, although small businesses are often given an exemption from such requirements.

External pressure on smaller firms (in the form of proactive state enforcement) appears to generate additional OHS activities, which include more opportunities for worker

participation.^{xxxvii} There is also some research that suggests targeting high-risk industries can help to address enforcement challenges in industries characterized by extensive subcontracting.^{xxxviii} That said, additional enforcement does not necessarily alleviate the resource issues that constrain the capacity of workers in small businesses (and the businesses themselves) from engaging in OHS work.^{xxxix} Further, Alberta's limited proactive OHS enforcement efforts suggest such pressure may be small or non-existent.^{xi}

At the micro level, the (re-)organization of work is resulting in the seeming paradox of fewer supervisors but the same or greater level of worker supervision. This reflects that, in many industries, technology is being used to embed traditional supervisory tasks in work processes. For example, employers may computerize the evaluation of production quotas (e.g., keystroke counting, issue resolution times, production counts) or quality assessment (e.g., error rates). One implication of this reorganization of work is workers have fewer opportunities to discuss the hazards of work because there are fewer (or no) supervisors and the hazards (e.g., repetitive strain injuries triggered by production targets) are more difficult for workers to mitigate because the hazards are embedded in the work process and technology.

Pace of work and compensation schemes

Payment on a piece-rate basis (or "payment-by-results") is an increasingly common form of remuneration, particularly (although not exclusively) in industries with significant levels of subcontracting.^{xli} In conjunction with the profit incentive, piece-rate pay incentivizes haste. Significant competition among subcontractors that has driven down the value of bids and/or contractual terms containing incentives for early completion (or penalties for late completion) may compound this work-hastening effect.^{xlii} The technological changes discussed above may also trigger work hastening in more traditional organizations as they adopt lean production models that are associated with increased injury outcomes.^{xliii}

Work hastening may reduce the opportunities employers offer workers to participate in hazard assessments (particularly field-level hazard assessments) because such assessments slow production. An interview with a manager suggested the degree to which hazards identified by workers are attended to varies:

(It) depends upon who you ask and at what moment you ask. Under pressure, and often there are deadlines, the balance tilts towards productivity. ... Of course you can challenge a supervisor (over hazards) but you have to take the consequences. It depends on who it is. Some department heads will take you seriously. Some will lash out (Interview 15).

Field observations found that subcontracting can result in incomplete and rushed handoffs between contractors. For example, travel-related delays affecting one contractor created costs for another (whose workers had to wait). Consequently, the hazard assessment entailed a pro forma signing of the paperwork before handing over a worksite. In another instance, a contractor started work before the required hazard assessment process occurred, rather than wait for the required staff to arrive. This worker continued to work during the hazard assessment despite the (unusual) presence of both the observer and senior company representatives. This suggests the practice of working before doing the hazard assessment is well-established.

Survey data supports the notion that time and pay are factors that might limit worker involvement in OHS. The survey found that 45% of workers indicated that they don't have time to get more involved in workplace safety and 32% indicated they don't get

paid for health and safety involvement. Interview data suggests that worker participation in a hazard assessment is sometimes limited to reviewing an assessment completed by someone else:

I usually get the paper, which I sign, which is already fill out with information. So the person with whom I work does the hazard assessment (Interview 6).

Work hastening may also trigger superficial hazard assessment, particularly in cases where the varying nature of the work and working conditions requires employers to engage in frequent, field-level hazard assessments. Field observations and interview data suggests that superficial hazard assessment can include relying upon checklists or templates that undermine the rigor of the process:

Gone to the point of laminated copies, almost comical (Focus Group).

Superficial hazard assessment is widely acknowledged to occur. For example, consider this anecdote told by Progressive Conservative Member of the Legislative Assembly Robin Campbell to other legislators:

I can tell you from my 30 years of working in industry, in coal mining, which is one of the most regulated industries in Canada, that workplace hazard assessments just don't work. What those mean is that every worker before they start their shift has to fill out a workplace hazard assessment form of what their jobs are going to entail during the day and assess any workplace hazards that they're going to see, and they have to try and address those. I can tell you, Mr. Speaker, that in the mining industry, for example, I know that workers on four days of work take a piece of paper, photocopy it four times, sign their name, and hand the thing in. So it does nothing.^{xliv}

While Campbell implicitly blames workers for superficial hazard assessment behavior, it is the employer that created and operates this system. It is useful to consider why workers would treat hazard assessments in such a perfunctory manner given what is at stake in a mine. Worker disregard may reflect the expectation that meaningful hazard assessment will result in no (or a negative) response by the employer (see below). It may also reflect worker assessment about the validity of safety-checklist approaches to hazard assessment and thus the amount of time workers are willing to spend upon them.

Environmental limitations

Field observations suggest environmental conditions can affect the opportunity for workers to participate in meaningful hazard assessment. Bad weather (e.g., temperature, precipitation) is a hazard in itself, but may also limit the opportunities employers provide to conduct a thorough field-level hazard assessment. In such circumstances, supervisors sometime do hazard assessments "in the truck" without visual contact with the worksite or equipment. That is to say, the hazard assessment process becomes an entirely theoretical exercise. The root cause of this limitation on workers' opportunity to participate in a hazard assessment is an employer decision around the facilities (often none) available on the worksite.

Similarly, both limited daylight hours and the requirement to travel between worksites can pressurize workers to start work immediately upon arrival at a worksite. Field observation suggests that, where hazard assessments are done at all, they may be perfunctory exercises performed while workers are engaged or waiting to perform other tasks (e.g., driving to the site, setting up equipment, gearing up, going to the bathroom).

Hazard assessments may also be performed by workers who are exhausted as a consequence of travel requirements and shift scheduling—factors which are themselves

workplace hazards. Field observation found, for example, one worker who travelled from Spruce Grove (home) to Drayton Valley to meet his truck, then onto Rocky Mountain House to the worksite. This 250km commute was not considered part of the worker's working time. Upon arrival, the crew was anxious to start work and consequently the worker's opportunity to meaningfully participate in the hazard assessment that took place was very limited.

Careless workers, safety culture and safety climate

Workers' opportunity to participate in hazard assessment may be intentionally or unintentionally constrained by employers because employers view workers as the central workplace hazard. The (false) notion that worker behavior is the primary cause of injuries has a long pedigree, reflecting employer interests in limiting liability for injuries,^{xiv} and remains widely held.^{xivi} During an interview, a supervisor volunteered that he held such views:

Safety is determined by individuals. Companies can bring in policies, even training. That doesn't mean anything if someone doesn't have the will to be safe. There are certain people that are accident-prone. I think it is due to careless workers or inattention or lack of insight or lack of foresight or clumsiness or occasionally bad luck, but usually carelessness.... Some people just have a lack of common sense (Interview 15).

The most recent manifestation of the careless worker myth is in behavior-based safety (BBS) systems. BBS focuses on modifying worker behaviors and assumes that incidents have a single or primary cause, rather than being the product of network of antecedent and contributory causes. ^{xivii} The notion of mono-causality tends to truncate incident explanation at the point of the worker, rather than delving into the contextual factors that explain worker behavior (e.g., a response to production pressures, the absence of training).

A similar dynamic seems to underlie discussions of safety culture and safety climate. These terms are often (although not necessarily correctly) used interchangeably to describe organizational and individual attitudes that emphasize safety.^{xlviii} Culture is often operationalized as individuals' attitudes towards safety, which then manifest themselves as behaviours. This view largely ignores the important impact that organizational practices have on behaviour. By emphasizing worker belief and behaviour and obscuring the context that work occurs in, safety culture and climate tend to truncate the explanation of incidents at the level of the worker, just like BBS. Several workers comment on how this dynamic spills over into the hazard assessment process.

(Field Level Risk Assessments), in my opinion, is a device for the company to point blame at workers if an incident happens (Focus Group).

The main push back (from workers) is that the forms are used as a way to put blame back on the worker (Focus Group).

An employer doesn't sit down with workers to develop a JHA that will make work safe. The purpose of the JHA is remove the liability from the company and put it onto the worker (Focus Group).

Employers who (implicitly or explicitly) blame workers for their injuries may be skeptical of the value of worker input. Consequently, they may provide workers with fewer or less meaningful opportunities for input into the hazard assessment process. Such employers may also accord relatively little weight to worker input to hazard assessments.^{xlix} In these

ways, blaming workers for their injuries reduces their opportunity and willingness to meaningfully participate in the hazard assessment process. (see below).

Barriers to Worker Capacity to Participate

Four clusters of issues appear to reduce the capacity of workers to participate in hazard assessments. They include employer control over the definition of hazard, the size of firms, precarious forms of employment, and a lack of hazard assessment training.

Definition of hazard

Employers determine the hazards that are present in the workplace when they design and organize work. It is uncommon for employers to consider hazard control in the workdesign and -organization process. The tendency toward post-design hazard control both pre-determines the hazards workers face and limits the control strategies employers are willing to consider (due to retro-fitting and redesign costs). Employers shape which workplace hazards are recognized and controlled via the information they share with workers. Among the notable trends is that employers tend to emphasize short-term (safety) risks, whereas workers tend to be most concerned with long-term (health) risks.¹

Employers also construct and operate the hazard assessment process. Historically, employers have used such control to define what aspects of workplace safety are examined and what kinds of evidence are considered legitimate in order to evade the regulation of and the liability for workplace health hazards, such as asbestos.^{li} Employers may also be more likely to acknowledge or provide information about hazards that are easy to address rather than hazards that require more involved remediation. Consequently, workers frequently have little to no access to accurate information about health or safety hazards.

Research also suggests that employers may conceptualize risk in ways that differ from workers. Specifically, managers may operationalize "high risk" as the significance of a negative outcome rather than the probability of its occurrence.^{III} A highly probable but low consequence injury (e.g., a minor burn or laceration) may be viewed as low risk (even though it occurs often) while a low probability but high consequence injury (e.g., fatality) may be viewed as high risk (even though it is relatively uncommon). While severity of consequence is an important aspect of risk assessment, emphasizing it results in the discounting of lower consequence (but very common) injuries and inattention to the hazards that cause them. This definitional difference may reduce workers' capacity to participate in hazard assessment in that workers define hazards in ways that are incompatible with managerial paradigms.

Field observation appears to validate the assertion that employer definitions of hazards affect hazard assessment. Workers following employer hazard assessment processes attended to high-consequence, low-probability hazards (e.g., explosions, H_2S leaks) while low-consequence, high-probability hazards (such as slippery and/or uneven work surfaces, sunstroke, fatigue, road conditions) were not identified and no control efforts were undertaken. There was also no discussion about the hazards posed by other workers operating on or near the worksite. Multiple crews on-site is common, given the degree of subcontracting that occurs. Other workers were assumed to pose no hazard and to know enough to keep themselves safe from the hazards associated with the work of others. Indeed, there were no meaningful impediments (e.g., fences, gates) to worker (or the general public) access any of the worksites observed despite the dangers of the worksites.

Size of firm

The growth of small firms, including those that operate in subcontracting relationships, may reduce the capacity of workers to participate in hazard assessments. Smaller firms frequently have little internal capacity to perform basic OHS functions.^{liii} This, in turn, limits employers' ability to train workers about hazard assessment (although such training could be procured from outside sources). Owners may also not view such training as being their responsibility.^{liv}

Smaller firms are characterized by higher worker turnover and a short firm lifespan. Higher turnover reduces employers' willingness to commit to training. Shorter organizational lifespan among smaller firms reduces the opportunity for workers to develop expertise, either in specific jobs (required to identify hazards) or in the hazard assessment process itself.^{Iv} Indeed, the "supervisor" is often simply the most experienced worker rather than being someone with managerial expertise.^{Ivi} Such arrangements may embed traditional ways of working, include failing to do hazard assessments. As noted below, such arrangements may also lead to hazard assessment approached based upon passive rather than active forms of worker engagement.

Precarious employment

Precarious work is "paid work characterized by limited social benefits and statutory entitlements, job insecurity, low wages and high risks of ill health."^{Ivii} There has been a significant increase in precarious employment in Canada, largely attributable to employers seeking to reduce labour costs. The desire to minimize costs creates a disincentive for employers to invest in training, including safety training.^{Iviii} The frequently short tenure of precarious workers also places these workers in workplaces and work processes with which they may be unfamiliar. These factors reduce the capacity of such workers to participate in hazard assessments.

Precarious employment may also increase the complexity of the hazards facing workers. For example, multiple jobs may create complex interactions between hazardous substances or stacked exposures that are not routinely considered in hazard assessments (which tend to focus on a single worksite). Precarious workers are also less likely to have access to training and/or knowledgeable representatives due to the lower likelihood of unionization. This makes precarious workers more reliant upon employers for information about hazards and their rights. This dependence may be intensified by language barriers often found in workplaces employing large number of migrant workers.^{IIX}

Hazard assessment training

A necessary precondition for effective worker participation in OHS activities is basic knowledge about work processes, hazards and control strategies. Specific to hazard assessment, workers must understand what hazards to look for and how to look for them.^{Ix} Such knowledge and skill is rarely a component of occupational training, even for high-skill, high-risk jobs.^{Ixi}

Survey data indicates that 34% of Alberta workers (including 49% of workers under age 25 and 41% of female workers) reported that they have enough training to become more involved in OHS efforts. Employers must deliver such training in order to meet their obligations under the Alberta *OHS Code* to have workers meaningfully participate in hazard assessment and control efforts. Specific training (and potentially periodic retraining) as well as time to conduct such training is necessary to develop and maintain workers' capacity to effectively participate in hazard assessment.^{1xii} The cost of such

training, as well as the cost of remediating hazards identified by trained workers, may be a barrier to employers providing such training.

There is conflicting research about the effectiveness of contemporary safety training.^{Ixiii} High-engagement training is linked to greater knowledge acquisition, better safety performance and a greater reduction in injuries.^{Ixiv} High-engagement (or active) learning methods incorporate dialogue, reflection, feedback and action into the training. This degree of engagement allows trainees to infer causal and conditional relationships between actions, the environment and outcomes as well as learn from mistakes. This changes how workers think and act, especially in novel situations.^{Ixv} By contrast, lowengagement training typically focuses on information transmission via lectures and written and video material with little social support to reinforce training. For example, significant questions exist about the effectiveness of online safety training due to its tendency towards passive, rather than active, learning.^{Ixvi}

Creating and delivering high-engagement training requires pedagogical skills that many supervisors will not have, as well as time for such training to occur. These constraints often mean OHS training is often general and decontextualized, as well as casts learners in passive roles.^{Ixvii} Further, the retention of safety training and its application to the workplace is affected by the behavior of supervisors and coworkers when a worker attempts to apply the training (see below).^{Ixviii} In this way, the effect of good training can be nullified by ignoring the hazards workers identify and/or a negative reaction to hazard identification.

Field observation suggests an important workplace dynamic around safety training in Alberta is pressure to "get workers certified". Certification is frequently required for site access and to meet due diligence requirements. For example, field observations revealed that industry-standard hydrogen sulfide safety training (H₂S Alive) was largely passive with only a short opportunity for hands-on work with equipment (which was broken) and no focus on problem-solving. Questions were discouraged and the sense among participants was that everyone would pass the exam regardless of what they knew.

More specific to hazard assessment training, there appears to be little post-training validation of worker knowledge or ability to apply it on the job, raising questions about the value of such training:

I don't have all of the tools to assess risk in the workplace. I took a very simple computer test (after I did the training). The idea of the test was to show the individual took the test and cover (the employer) against any legal problem rather than giving employees tools to prevent accidents (Interview 9).

At the root of this dynamic appears to be cost pressures on employers combined with a training system heavily dependent upon contractors providing "generic" safety training.

Literacy may reduce workers' capacity to participate in OHS activities such as hazard assessment.^{bix} Approximately 61% of Albertans have literacy levels adequate for effective functioning in society, suggesting a large subset of workers may struggle with written material.^{bix} Literacy levels significantly correlate with level of formal education, with approximately 34.4% of Alberta workers holding some form of post-secondary credential.^{bixi} To the degree that the labour market is segmented based upon credentials (or, more broadly, literacy), there is the potential for low-literacy workplaces and occupational sectors. Workers in such sectors may have lower capacity to participate in hazard-assessment training and (consequently) hazard assessments.

English-language proficiency may create significant difficulty among non-English speakers in understanding and applying operating manuals, safety signage and hazard material labeling. Survey data suggested that 8% of workers did not become more involved in workplace safety and health because language barriers made it difficult to communicate with their supervisors and management. Alberta's large migrant worker population also raises the issue of the impact of cultural diversity on worker participation in hazard assessment. At a high level, cultural factors (shaped by linguistic conventions) can affect when and how workers interpret messages as well as to whom they communicate.^{Ixxii} For example, cultural factors may create differing levels of tolerance for dissent and questioning. These factors, in turn, reduce the capacity of these workers to participate in hazard assessments and comprehend hazard control efforts.

Barriers to Worker Willingness to Participate

Five clusters of issues appear to reduce the willingness of workers to participate in hazard assessments. They include worker- and employer-generated fear of participation, pace of work and compensation schemes, precarious work and worker vulnerability, and gender-based harassment and discrimination.

Fear-based silence

Workers often report that they fear speaking up about safety matters.^{Ixxiii} This reaction reduces the willingness of workers to participate in hazard assessments.

You don't know the consequences of (pointing out hazards). You never know if they can fire you. ... At work, we're supposed to be seven guys but there are only two guys. But you can't tell the managers "you are killing me by making me do the work of seven guys". So it is difficult. If you do that you'll be fired. That is what is going on in our mind. No one wants to be fired (Interview 4).

Absolutely (workers are afraid). Intimidation, bullying by department heads, especially when it is coming down to deadlines. You don't say anything (Interview 15).

Survey data indicated that 19% of workers did not get more involved in checking for hazards or other safety problems because they felt their supervisors would object or not allow them to do so. Interestingly, 46% of workers who reported being regularly exposed to 10 or more hazard agreed with this statement. Another 13% of workers agreed "employees like me are afraid to speak up about health and safety problems." Again, workers who reported regular exposure to 10 or more hazards agreed with this statement 35% of the time.

Workers can use four main strategies when faced with unsafe work: leaving the workplace (exit), expressing their concerns (voice), waiting for something to change (patience) or ignoring the hazardous conditions (neglect).^{1xxiv} Silence is an aspect of all but "voice". Workers' choice of strategy appears to reflect their relative fear of termination and injury, supervisor attitudes and feelings of power and powerlessness.^{1xxv} For example, exit is extremely uncommon, reflecting workers' reliance upon waged employment. The effectiveness of voice is uneven, depending upon management attitudes. If voice is ineffective, workers may revert to patience or move onto neglect or exit depending upon job satisfaction, alternatives and investment.^{1xxvi} This dynamic is often seen in worker cynicism about the effectiveness of hazard assessment activity:

Some even go to [OHS] to file a complaint... but nobody cares and they don't do nothing. Alberta runs mostly on construction... so the government is not going to do

anything. They're going to turn a blind eye because if work gets done that means more money. So everybody just gives up (Interview 10).

Fear of speaking up can result in workers withholding knowledge about issues such as managerial behavior,^{lxxvii} worker treatment,^{lxxviii} organizational functioning^{lxxix} and organizational wrongdoing.^{lxxx} Employees who remain silent report that silence is motivated by fear of material or social repercussions in the workplace, such as looking foolish among their peers or being punished by supervisors.^{lxxxi} That said, not all employee silence is deliberative; some silence may well be reflexive.

Reflexive fear has an evolutionary basis: fear, both generally and of specific circumstances (e.g., of heights, darkness, confined spaces, challenging higher status individuals), triggers behavior that protects us from threats.^{Ixxxii} Detecting threats is an early adaptive response that can trigger non-conscious reactions.^{Ixxxii} Workers' reluctance to challenge managers (who have higher status in the work hierarchy) and question the safety of a workplace (thereby challenging those who control it) may reflect an unconscious fear reaction leading to silence. This fear may be exacerbated by dominance cues (e.g., yelling, attributes such as supervisor size or gender, manner of comportment exhibited by leaders such as frowning ^{Ixxxiv}, as well as by childhood socialization that emphasizes submission to authority.^{Ixxxv}

Culturally, we struggle. If I were your coworker and I saw you doing something stupid—it is sort of like an old boys' club—if I saw you doing something stupid I'd say 'what are you doing?' I think (that if) a new worker (said that), the crew would be saying 'what are you doing? Shut up.' A lot of pressure falls on people who raise issues (Interview 13).

The degree of fear response can be tempered by the immediacy or severity of the threat(s). For example, expressing safety concerns to an employer creates an immediate and potentially severe threat to a worker's employment. By contrast, a safety threat is generally non-immediate and of unknown severity. Consequently, a worker is likely to prefer unremediated safety issues to confronting a supervisor. To the degree that this process is unconscious (or habituated through past personal or vicarious experience^{lxxxvi}), workers may reflexively respond to routine tasks such as hazard assessments through silence. The pessimism and caution associated with fear may colour even more thoughtful and calculating responses.^{Ixxxvii} These dynamics may drive workers' implicit acceptance of management's right to manage the workplace, particularly around issues where workers are indifferent or unknowledgeable.^{Ixxxviii}

It may be possible to reduce workers' fear about challenging employers around safety by enhancing workers' knowledge and skills around hazard assessment and control. ^{booix} Providing instruction and encouraging peer support around identifying and remedying safety issues creates opportunities for workers to be successful (or even partially successful) in speaking up about safety. Such success helps workers see voice as a viable and less threatening behavior. This suggests that providing time for training, a formal process by which to raise OHS concerns (e.g., JHSCs), and recognizing the legitimacy of safety representatives may be a pathway to enhanced worker participation. That said, it remains difficult to prevent reflexive silence in situations of high fear intensity because of the evolutionary value of a better-safe-than-sorry reaction.^{xc}

Employer-created silence

An alternate perspective on worker silence suggests employers may intentionally create silence through agenda setting and institutional structures in order to avoid issues and

conflicts contrary to their interests.^{xci} This may create a climate of silence wherein workers believe that speaking up is not worth the effort and doing so may be dangerous.^{xcii} Interviews suggested this dynamic operates around hazard assessments in Alberta:

When they do an accident investigation, they always try to find a way to say that "the employee failed to identify the hazards." You can go from both extremes—from the (Joint Hazard Assessment) that is barely filled out so you don't stir the pot and you don't make that manager mad by identifying hazards he doesn't want to address because there is a cost associated with them. Or you could go the opposite direction and where you can identify everything under the Sun... and it still comes down to the employee failed to identify the hazard. And after awhile you just you give up. It is just a piece paper that allows the company to present to whatever governing body that is in charge of this, probably the WCB, trying to do some sort of cost savings (Focus Group).

Managers are more likely than are other workers to blame workers for workplace injuries.^{xciii} This may result in distrust between employers and workers, thereby impeding workers' willingness to engage in discussions of hazards.

As noted above, employers may create a shallow hazard assessment process that limits what is defined as a "hazard" and thereby avoid discussions around the hazards embedded in basic workplace choices (e.g., work processes, materials, staffing models). Indeed, there is some research that suggests employer-created work processes may require safety violations in order for workers to complete work.^{xciv}

Not capturing and acting upon feedback from hazard assessments (particularly fieldlevel hazard assessments) to control hazards is sometimes characterized as a form of management failure.^{xcv} Alternately, information may be intentionally ignored in order to minimize production costs and/or liability.^{xcvi}

Yes, I (identified a hazard) and my concern was ignored. They were using a prototype machine that wasn't proven—it didn't have the safety guards or safety requirements to operate. It was operated. A near miss happened (Interview 9).

Approximately one-quarter of workers under age 25 indicated the lack of influence they had as junior employees was a reason they chose not to become more involved in OHS efforts. Workers over 55 also identified a lack of influence or employer indifference as barriers to greater involvement. Overall, 15% of workers reported management indifference to health and safety issues.

In either case, such inaction creates psychological stress (i.e., cognitive dissonance) because it places workers in a position where their values differ from their behavior.^{xcvii} Workers resort to silence strategies when they believe that speaking up will not make any difference.^{xcviii} Over time, this dynamic (silence = inaction = more silence) has the potential to create a form of learned helplessness (or hopelessness).^{xcix}

I've never heard management say based on the (Joint Hazard Assessments) that we need to get new tooling that is designed to do a job better or we need to change a procedure. If somebody gets really hurt, they'll jump (Focus Group).

Workers may also attempt to resolve the dissonance caused by working in unsafe conditions by adjusting their safety-related expectations downward. Indeed, routinely hazardous jobs (such as being a rig hand in Alberta's oil patch) may result in workers adopting a fatalistic attitude about workplace injury.^c This normalization of hazards may

not only reduce workers' willingness to participate in hazard assessment, but it may so desensitize workers to hazards that they no longer attend to various hazard control mechanisms, such as administrative and PPE controls.

Pace of work and compensation schemes

Piece-rate compensation is associated with higher levels of injury.^{ci} This may reflect various factors, such as relative levels of training and experience, (un)willingness to refuse unsafe work, and incentives to work quickly. As noted above, piece-rate compensation incentivizes haste and thus may limit the opportunities employers make available to workers to participate in hazard assessment. Similarly, where some or all of workers' salary is paid on a piece-rate basis (including bonus and/or penalty schemes), workers may be less willing to participate in hazard assessments, reflecting their trading off their interest in a safe work environment against their desire to maximize their pay.

Less obvious is how piece-rate pay and competitive subcontracting systems can displace worker interests with employer interests.^{cii} Interviews with workers indicate that workers may discount their interests in a safe work environment (by remaining silent about hazards) if they feel that raising such issues will jeopardize their employer's ability to maintain a contract. Interviews also suggest that employers sometimes work around such concerns if they are raised.

You can refuse unsafe work. But someone else will get sent to the site to do the work... because the subcontractor doesn't want to lose the business. So another worker gets sent in to do the job (Focus Group).

I said 'sorry, you can't do that.' The guy was barred from the worksite.... Sadly his company wouldn't have dealt with (behavior). They just would have reassigned him and he's somewhere else doing the same thing (Interview 13).

This dynamic of worker replacement to avoid work refusals is a recurring management strategy.^{ciii} This dynamic may then reduce workers' willingness to engage in meaningful hazard assessment. Workers may also be reluctant to participate in hazard assessments when the assessment occurs during workers' rest breaks. These dynamics may be particularly evident in cases where field-level hazard assessments are necessary.

Precarious work and worker vulnerability

The (re-)organization of work towards an increasingly contingent workforce (e.g., temporary employees, subcontracting) reduces workers' willingness to exercise statutory rights, including their right to participate in hazard assessments.^{civ} In effect, workers whose employment must be periodically renewed are more vulnerable to employer reprisals and are, therefore, less likely to voice concerns about their working conditions. The development of a secondary labour pool may also affect the willingness of workers in standard employment relations to participate in hazard assessments for fear of replacement with less expensive and more acquiescent workers. For example, a (fairly common) worker phone call received by the AHWC during this study reported that an employer responded to worker safety concerns raised at a tailgate meeting by saying "There is a long list of people waiting to take your job if you don't want to do it."

The growing use of migrant workers, whose residency is contingent upon their employment and who have effectively no labour mobility, creates a significantly vulnerable group of employees who may be unwilling to participate in hazard assessments.^{cv} One interview subject was quite explicit about the interaction between

the precarity of temporary foreign workers and their willingness to participate in the hazard assessment process:

You have workers who are not Canadians.... Those guys get pushed really hard so they won't say anything. They will just do the work and that is. Because if they go challenge their boss, some bosses are like "so remember you are under the work permit so anytime ...you keep telling me (it) is unsafe and you don't want to work and then you go back to your country." ...Some of them don't know if their supervisor will act in the correct, responsible way but they don't want to take the risk. The same things happens with Canadian citizens. Nobody will challenge the supervisor (Interview 10).

There are also significant questions regarding the effectiveness of Alberta's OHS enforcement efforts, including questions about regulatory capture.^{cvi} This perceived ineffectiveness may further reduce the willingness of workers to enforce their right to participate in a hazard assessment.

Gender, discrimination and harassment

Women may face gender-specific barriers to participating in hazard assessments. Women remain disadvantaged in the Canadian workforce and are more likely to be employed precariously.^{cvii} Women are also more likely to have the hazards they face dismissed by employers, regulators and health-care providers, reflecting the long-term devaluing of female work.^{cviii} The gendered nature of workplaces (which sometimes manifests itself in harassment and discrimination) may reduce the willingness of women to participate in hazard assessments.^{cix} This dynamic is problematic because hazards may sometimes be gender specific.

Reproductive hazards are the most commonly identified gender-specific hazards. But emphasizing reproductive hazards tends to obscure other gender-specific hazards.^{cx} These "other" hazards tend to be embedded in technology and/or work process based on male anthropometry. For example, machinery and processes may all contain assumptions about operator height, weight and strength.^{cxi} These assumptions are disproportionately based upon a male norm and pose ergonomic and other hazards to workers who do not fit this norm.^{cxii} This male norm is often invisible (to men) and must be pointed out (by women) or it will go unrecognized and the resulting hazards uncontrolled. The assignment of work tasks may also be gendered, resulting in effectively gendered hazards.^{cxiii} Employers frequently design jobs to be performed at near the limit of (male) worker's capacity in order to minimize labour costs. Controlling gendered hazards may require expensive changes to work processes. Consequently, employers have little incentive to engage in gender-based hazard assessment and may indeed participate in or condone the suppression of identifying such hazards.

The gendered nature of hazard assessment (including suppression of concerns) suggests other personal characteristics of workers may also limit their willingness to participate in hazard assessment. As noted above, inter-related issues around language, literacy and ethnicity may limit workers' capacity to participate in hazard assessment. But they may also limit their willingness to do so. Similarly, workers requiring particular workplace accommodations due to disability, religious, family or other requirements may decline to meaningfully participate in hazard assessment as a way to reducing their exposure to harassment and discrimination.

Size of enterprise

Smaller workplaces sometimes report less-than-optimal worker participation in OHS activities. It is unclear whether participation in smaller firms is lower than in larger firms and what the cause of non-participation is, although opportunities for participation exist so it may be capacity or willingness^{cxiv} Smaller workplaces may create social dynamics not conducive to hazard assessment. "Family" businesses blur the lines between employment and family relationships.^{cxv} This may reduce the willingness of employers to conduct and workers to participate in hazard assessment and control because the purported economic needs of the "family" may come first.^{cxvi} That said, smaller workplaces may also generate close interpersonal connections among workers and between workers and employers that increase the willingness of both sides to identify and mitigate hazards.

Table 4 outlines the percentage of those workers (reported by workplace size) who wanted to be more involved in workplace safety and agreed that a barrier is safety is someone else's responsibility.

<20 workers	18%
20-99 workers	24%
>99 workers	36%

Table 4. Agreement that Safety is Someone Else's Responsibility

Alberta workers employed in workplaces with fewer than 20 workers were more likely to be involved in the four OHS activities set out in Table 3 than were employees in workplaces with 20 or more employees. This may reflect that, in larger workplaces, Alberta workers are more likely to have some form of formal safety representation. For example, survey data indicates that 82% of workers who indicated they were very or moderately active in OHS were employed in workplaces with 500+ workers.

Barriers to Worker Participation When Work Changes

All change in the workplace originates with the employer because work is carrying out the employer's direction. Consequently, Section 7.4 of Alberta's *OHS Code* requires employers to make a further hazard assessment when new work processes are introduced, when work processes or operations change, or when the work site is altered or added to. The survey results suggest that employers are conscious of the different ways they change work and imbed mechanisms to assess the impact potential. When new materials or equipment is first used, 71% of workers indicated that a supervisor or other more experience employee pointed out hazards or dangerous working conditions. There were significant industry differences: 91% of workers in construction and 83% of workers in oil/mining agreed with this statement while only 42% of workers in finance did.

Similarly 73% of workers agreed that, when work changes, a supervisor or another employee points our hazards or dangerous conditions that might result from the change(s). Workers exposed to more potential hazards (regular exposure to 10 or more hazards) agreed with this statement 90% of the time. The workers least likely to agree with this statement include women (69%), office workers (69%) and workers in health care (67%), government (64%) and financial services (67%).

Many of the barriers to workers' opportunity, capacity and willingness to participate in hazard assessments set out above are also relevant to hazard assessments when work changes. For example, as organizations make greater use of subcontracting arrangements, the greater number of actors and interfaces may obscure changes to work necessitating a new hazard assessment.^{cxvii} The responsibility for identifying the need for new hazard assessments and ensuring that such assessments allow workers a meaningful opportunity to participate is the employer's responsibility.

Similarly, a shift-schedule change (e.g., moving from working five eight-hour shifts to four ten-hour shifts) may introduce or intensify fatigue-related hazards. Yet employers might not recognize that such a change requires a new hazard assessment because (1) it is an incremental change, (2) that has little affect on work processes, and (3) might be driven by financial imperatives. Employers may also consider hours of work a matter of labour relations rather than health and safety. The absence of organizational triggers that lead to a review of existing hazard assessment and control strategies may result in employers failing to provide opportunities for workers to participate in hazard assessments.

The opportunity for and willingness of workers to participate in further hazard assessments following work change may also be affected by the industrial relations context of a change. Workers have a variety of reactions to workplace change (e.g., acceptance, ^{cxviii} resistance, ^{cxix} cynicism^{cxx} and commitment^{cxvi}). The context of a change (e.g., expected or real resistance) may reduce the opportunities employers offer workers to participate in hazard assessment, as well as how seriously employers take workers' comments. Similarly, workers' willingness to participate may be affected. Further, conflict over workplace change may distract both employers and workers from the safety implications of a change.

Conclusion

The literature and data clearly demonstrate that worker participation enhances workplace health and safety. The data also suggests that a significant number of employers are not compliant with the provisions of Alberta's *OHS Code* regarding hazard assessment and control. Particularly troubling is the low level of reported worker involvement in the hazard-assessment process. These gaps are more prominent in small workplaces and among part-time and younger workers—findings consistent with the literature about OHS representation.

The literature suggests several strategies to increase worker participation in the hazard assessment and control process. Most importantly, employers must consistently perform hazard assessments. This includes allocating adequate work time for workers to participate in hazard assessment activities. It also requires consistently involving workers in the hazard assessment. Employers must also create systems by which to identify instances when work has changed and a new hazard assessment is required. These actions by employers are a basic precondition for worker participation in the hazard assessment process. If employers will not voluntarily perform hazard assessments and involve workers, proactive state inspection to identify and target such employers will be necessary.

Workers' capacity to participate in hazard assessment turns, in part, upon their knowledge of hazards and the hazard assessment process. Providing such training to workers in a high-engagement format will enhance their capacity to participate in hazard assessment. Training will also offer opportunities for workers to understand the full spectrum of hazards, their rights around hazard assessment and control, and consider

ways in which they can support one another effectively in the face of employer resistance. Supervisors also require adequate training in order to effectively manage the hazard assessment process (e.g., conducting a hazard assessment while in visual contact with the worksite), interact with workers (to prevent silencing), and respond to worker contributions to hazard assessments.

Periodic retraining or reinforcement of hazard assessment principles (particularly where hazard assessments are infrequent) may be necessary to maintain worker skill levels. Where literacy- or language-based barriers exist, remediation or accommodation will be required. Workers' participation tends to be more effective if it occurs within a formal structure within which to raise and address workplace hazards, such as a JHSC. Further, workers may benefit from hazard assessment training and resources provided by organized labour or third-party organizations (e.g., workers' clinics or centres).

When workers identify hazards, employers must both take action and communicate the results of that action to workers. These behaviors are required to prevent worker cynicism and withdrawal. Further, workers are unlikely to meaningfully participate in hazard assessment when they fear reprisals for identifying hazards. When incidents occur, a review of the hazard assessment may be in order. Injury and/or near-miss investigations should look beyond worker behavior to identify systemic contributions to the injury or near miss. Hazard assessments should not be used for disciplinary purposes or to deflect liability.

Some workplace characteristics create additional challenges to effective worker participation in hazard assessment. Extensive subcontracting can blur who is responsible for, and whether they have complied with, the hazard-assessment provisions in Alberta's *OHS Code*. It can also pressurize firms to minimize OHS-related costs and increase the pace of work. Altering compensation schemes (i.e., moving away from piece-rate methods, including bonuses and penalties for timely performance) might reduce work-hastening pressures that appear to constrain workers' opportunities for and willingness to participate in hazard assessment. Altering bid requirements to compel adequate worker training in hazard identification and a standardized hazard-assessment procedure might serve to enhance worker opportunities to participate in hazard assessment, as well as broaden employer views of incident causation that appear to be a barrier to worker participation.

Changing compensation schemes and altering bid requirements might also generate pressure on smaller firms (which pose particular OHS challenges) to train workers in hazard assessment and provide workers with opportunities to participate. Approximately 60% of Alberta firms have 5 or fewer employees. Small firms are less likely to comply with OHS requirements (e.g., hazard assessments) unless compelled to do so and are less likely to have adequate OHS expertise on staff. Additional enforcement and contractual requirements (for small subcontractors) may increase the opportunity and willingness of workers in small firms to participate. Mandated hazard assessment training for workers (akin to H_2S and fall protection training) would increase workers' capacity to participate in hazard assessments.

Some workers (e.g., temporary foreign workers, precarious workers) are less likely to participate in hazard assessment due to their labour-market vulnerability. Meaningful state enforcement of employers' obligations to conduct hazard assessments may (partly) offset silence created by worker vulnerability. Employer responsiveness to concerns may also reduce the risk workers associate with raising safety concerns. Mandating JHSCs

would also create a structure through which vulnerable workers could route concerns about workplace hazards.

ⁱⁱⁱ Alberta. (2009b). *Occupational health and safety code explanation guide*. Edmonton: Employment and Immigration.

^{iv} Occupational Health and Safety Regulation, BC Reg 296/97ss.4.13, 4.20.2, 4.28, 4.48, 5.99, 6.118, 9.11

^v Occupational Health and Safety Act, RSO 1990, c O.1 ss.25(2)(d), 32.0.3 and 34

^{vi} An Act Respecting Occupational Health and Safety, RSQ, c S-2.1 (Quebec OHS) ss 51(3), (5) and 52.

^{vii} Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993, SS 1993, c O-1.1 s 19(a)

viii Canada Occupational Health and Safety Regulations (Can Regs), SOR/86-304 ss 19.3-19.4.

^{ix} Alberta. Occupational health and safety code 2009.

^x Reason, J. (1990). The contribution of latent human failures to the breakdown of complex systems. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*. 325(1241): 475-484.

^{xi} Barnetson, B. (2010). *The political economy of workplace injury in Canada*. Edmonton: Athabasca University Press.

^{xii} Eakin, J. (2010). Towards a 'standpoint' perspective: Health and safety in small workplaces from the perspective of workers. *Policy and practice in health and safety*. 8(2): 113-127.

^{xiii} Hall, A., Forrest, A., Sears, A. and Carlan, N. (2006). Making a difference: Knowledge activism and worker representation in joint OHS committees. *Relations Industrielles/Industrial Relations.* 61(3): 408–36.

^{xiv} Walters, D. and Frick, K. (2000). Worker participation and the management of occupational health and safety: Reinforcing or conflicting strategies? in K. Frick, P. Langaa Jensen, M. Quinlan and T. Wilthagen (eds.). *Systematic occupational health and safety management: Perspectives on an international development*. Oxford: Pergamon. 43-66.

^{xv} Barnetson, *The political economy of workplace injury in Canada*.

^{xvi} Walters and Frick, Worker participation and the management of occupational health and safety.

Nichols, T. and Walters, D. (2009), Worker Representation on Health and Safety in the UK — Problems with the Preferred Model and Beyond, in Walters, D.R. and Nichols, T. (eds). International perspectives on representing workers' interests in health and safety, Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke. 19-30.

ⁱ Her Majesty the Queen and Finning International Ltd. (2011). Agreed statement of facts. Docket # 100807403P1. Edmonton: Provincial Court of Alberta.

ⁱⁱ Alberta. (2009a). *Occupational health and safety code 2009*. Edmonton: Employment and Immigration.

Nichols, T., Walters, D. and Tasiran, A. (2007). Trade unions, institutional mediation and industrial safety — Evidence from the UK. *Journal of Industrial Relations*. 49(2): 211-225.

Hart, S. (2002). Norwegian workforce involvement in safety offshore: Regulatory framework and participants' perspectives. *Employee relations*. 24(5): 486-499.

^{xvii} Quinlan, M., Mayhew, C. and Bohle, P. (2001). The global expansion of precarious employment, work disorganisation and consequences for occupational health: A review of recent research. *International journal of health services*. 31(2): 335–414.

Quinlan, M., Mayhew, C. and Bohle, P. (2001). The global expansion of precarious employment, work disorganisation, and occupational health: Placing the debate in a comparative historical perspective. *International journal of health services* 31(3):507-536.

Johnstone, R. (2006). Regulating occupational health and safety in a changing labour market. In C. Arup, P. Gahan, J. Howe, R. Johnstone, R. Mitchell and A. O'Donnell (eds). *Labour law and labour market regulations*. Sydney: Federation Press: 617-634.

^{xviii} Walters, D., Wadsworth, E. and Marsh, K. (2012). Worker representation and consultation on health and safety: An analysis of the findings of the European Survey of Enterprises on New and Emerging Risks. Luxembourg: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work.

^{xix} Hall et al, Making a difference: Knowledge activism and worker representation in joint OHS committees.

^{xx} Nichols and Walters, Worker representation on health and safety in the UK — Problems with the preferred model and beyond.

^{xvi} Walters and Frick, Worker participation and the management of occupational health and safety.

^{xxii} Walters, D. (2004). Workplace arrangements for worker participation in OHS. In E. Bluff, N. Gunningham, R. Johnstone (eds). *OHS regulation for a changing world of work*. Sydney: Federation Press. 68-93

^{xxiii} Alberta. (2010). Occupational health and safety (OHS) focused inspection: Commercial construction report. Edmonton: Employment and Immigration.

Alberta. (2011). Occupational health and safety (OHS) focused inspection: Residential construction report. Edmonton: Human Services.

Alberta. (2011). Occupational health and safety (OHS) focused inspection: Powered mobile equipment report. Edmonton: Employment and Immigration.

Alberta. (2011). Occupational health and safety (OHS) focused inspection: Young workers report. Edmonton: Employment and Immigration.

^{xxiv} Barnetson, B. (2013). Worker safety in Alberta: Trading health for profit. Paper presented at the 65th Conference of the Canadian Political Science Association, Victoria, June 6.

^{xxv} Mayhew, C., Quinlan, M. and Ferris, R. (1997). The effects of subcontracting/outsourcing on occupational health and safety. *Safety science*. 25(1-3): 163-178. ^{xxvi} Industry Canada. (2012). Key small business statistics, July 2012. Ottawa: Author.

^{xxvii} Mayhew et al. The effects of sub-contracting/outsourcing on occupational health and safety.

^{xxviii} Clifton, R. (2000). The consequences of new enterprise structures. The changing world of work. Belgium: European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 14-18.

Frick, K. and Walters, D. (1998). Worker representation on health and safety in small enterprises: Lessons from a Swedish approach. *International labour review*. 137(3): 367–89.

Johnstone, Regulating occupational health and safety in a changing labour market.

Quinlan, M. (2004). Flexible work and organisational arrangements. In E. Bluff, N. Gunningham and R. Johnstone (eds). *OHS regulation for a changing world of work*. Sydney: Federation Press. 120-145.

^{xxix} Johnstone, R. and Quinlan, M. (2006) The OHS regulatory challenges posed by agency workers: Evidence from Australia. *Employee relations*. 28(3): 273-289.

Mayhew, C. and Quinlain, M. (2006). Economic pressure, multi-tiered subcontracting and occupational health and safety in Australian long-haul trucking. *Employee relations*. 28(3): 212-229.

Walters, D. and Nichols, T. (2007). *Worker representation and workplace health and safety.* London: Palgrave.

Quinlain, M., Mayhew, C. and Johnstone, R. (2006). Trucking tragedies: The hidden disaster of mass death in the long-haul road transportation industry. in E. Tucker (ed). *Working disasters: The politics of response and recognition.* Amityville: Baywood Publishing.19-64.

^{xxx} Quinlan et al., The global expansion of precarious employment, work disorganisation and consequences for occupational health: A review of recent research.

^{xxxi} Industry Canada, Key small business statistics.

^{xxxii} Barbeau, E., Roelofs, C., Youngstrom, R., Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A. and LaMontagne, A. D. (2004), Assessment of occupational safety and health programs in small businesses. *American journal of industrial medicine*. 45(4): 371–379.

Eakin, J., Lamm, P. and Limborg H. (2000). International perspectives on the promotion of health and safety in small workplaces. In K. Frick, M. Quinlan and T. Wilthagen (eds). *Systematic OHS management: Perspectives on an international development*. Amsterdam: Elsevier. 227–247.

Lamm, F. and Walters, D. (2004). Regulating occupational health and safety in small businesses. in E. Bluff, N. Gunningham and R. Johnstone (eds). *OHS regulation for a changing world of work.* Sydney: Federation Press. 94-119.

Walters, D. (2002). Working safely in small enterprises in Europe: Towards a sustainable system for worker participation and representation. Brussels: ETUC.

^{xoxiii} MacEachern, E., Breslin, C., Kyle, N., Irvin, E., Kosny, A., Bigelow, P., Mahood, Q., Scott-Dixon, K., Morassaei, S., Facey, M., Changes, L., Couban, R., Shannon, H., Cullen, K. and Amick, B. (2008). Effectiveness and implementation of health and safety in small enterprises: A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative literature. Toronto: Institute for Work & Health.

^{xoxiv} Frick, K. (2009). Health and safety representation in small firms: A Swedish success that is threatened by political and labour market changes. In D. Walters and K. Frick (eds). *Workplace health and safety: International perspectives on worker representation*. New York: Palgrave: 154-176.

^{xxxv} Vosko, L., Tucker, E., Thomas, M. and Gellatly, M. (2011). New approaches to enforcement and compliance with labour regulatory standards: The case of Ontario, Canada. Research Paper No. 31/2011. Toronto: Osgoode Hall Law School.

^{xxxi} MacEachern et al., Effectiveness and implementation of health and safety in small enterprises.

^{xxxvii} Barbeau, Assessment of occupational safety and health programs in small businesses.

^{xxxviii} Vosko et al., New approaches to enforcement and compliance with labour regulatory standards.

^{xxxix} Walters, D. (2004). Worker representation and health and safety in small enterprises in Europe. *Industrial relations journal.* 35(2): 169–86.

^{xi} Barnetson, Worker safety in Alberta: Trading health for profit.

^{xii} Saha, A., Ramnath, T., Chaudhuri, R. and Saiyed, H. (2004). An accident-risk assessment study of temporary piece rated workers. *Industrial health*. 42: 240–245.

Bender, K., Green, C. and Heywood, J. (2012). Piece rates and workplace injury: Does survey evidence support Adam Smith? *Journal of population economics*. 25(2): 569-590.

^{xiii} Mayhew, The effects of sub-contracting/outsourcing on occupational health and safety.

xⁱⁱⁱⁱ Stoop, J. and Thissen, W. (1997). Transport safety: Trends and challenges from a system perspective. *Safety science*. 26(1/2): 107–120.

Landsbergis, P., Cahill, J. and Schnall, P. (1999). The impact of lean production and related new systems of work organisation on worker health. *Journal of occupational health psychology*. 4(2): 108–130

Berggren, C. (1993). Lean production – the end of history? *Work, employment & society*. 7(2): 163–188.

^{xliv} Alberta, *Alberta Hansard*, June 1, 2009, Robin Campbell (PC), pp. 1443–44;

^{xiv} Bale, A. (1989). America's first compensation crisis: Conflict over the value and meaning of workplace injuries under the employer liability system. In D. Rosner and G. Markowitz (eds). *Dying for a living: Workers' safety and health in twentieth-century America*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 34-52.

Witt, J. (2004). *The accidental republic: Crippled workingmen, destitute widows and the remaking of American law.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

^{xivi} Iverson, R. and Barling, J. (2006). The current culture of workplace injury. Paper presented at the Association of Workers' Compensation Boards of Canada public forum. July, Ottawa.

Reason, The contribution of latent human failures to the breakdown of complex systems.

Lehane, P. and Stubbs, D. (2001). The perceptions of managers and accident subjects in the service industries towards slip and trip accidents. Applied ergonomics. 32(2): 119-126.

Aldrich, M. (1997). Safety first: Technology, labor and business in the building of *American work safety, 1870-1939*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

Messing, K. (1998). *One-eyed science: Occupational health and women workers*. Ambler: Temple University Press.

^{xivii} Hopkins, A. (2005). What are we to make of safe behaviour programs? Paper presented at the ACTU OHS Conference, Melbourne, May 25.

^{xiviii} Hopkins, A. (2002). Safety culture, mindfulness and safe behaviour: Converging ideas? Working Paper No. 7. National Research Centre for Occupational Health and Safety. The Australian National University.

^{xlix} Walters, D., Nichols, T., Connor, J., Tasiran, A. and Cam, S. (2005). *The role and effectiveness of safety representatives in influencing workplace health and safety.* Cardiff: Health and Safety Executive

¹ Holmes, N., Triggsm T., Gifford, S. and Dawkins, A. (1997). Occupational injury risk in a blue collar, small business industry: Implications for prevention. *Safety science*. 25(1-3): 67-78.

Nelkin, D. and Brown, M. (1984). Observations on workers' perceptions of risk in dangerous trades. *Science, technology, & human values*. 9(2): 3-10.

^{II} Graebner, W. (1989). Hegemony through science: Information engineering and lead toxicology, 1925-1965. in D. Rosner and G. Markowitz (eds). *Dying for a living: Workers' safety and health in twentieth-century America*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press: 140-159.

Bohme, S., Zorabedian, J. and Egilman, D. (2005). Maximizing profit and endangering health: Corporate strategies to avoid litigation and regulation. *International journal of occupational and environmental health*. 11(6): 338-348.

Michaels, D. (2008). *Doubt is their product: How industry's assault on science threatens your health*. Toronto: Oxford University Press.

Brophy, J. Keith, M. and Schieman, J. (1998). Canada's asbestos legacy at home and abroad. *International journal of occupational and environmental health*. 13: 235-242.

Epstein, S. (1998). The politics of cancer revisited. USA: East Ridge Press.

Storey, R. and Lewchuk, W. (2000). From dust to DUST to dust: Asbestos and the struggle for worker health and safety at Bendix Automotive. *Labour/Le Travail*. 45: 103-140.

Kotelchuck, D. (1989). Asbestos: The funeral dress of kings—and others. In D. Rosner and G. Markowitz (eds). *Dying for a living: Workers' safety and health in twentieth-century America*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press. 192-207.

Dewees, D. (1988). Paying for asbestos-related diseases under workers' compensation. in J. Burton (ed). *New perspectives in workers' compensation*. Ithaca: ILR Press, 1988. 45-70.

ⁱⁱⁱ March, J. and Shapira, Z. (1987) Managerial perspectives on risk and risk taking, *Management Science*. 33(11): 1404-1418.

ⁱⁱⁱ MacEachern et al., Effectiveness and implementation of health and safety in small enterprises.

^{liv} MacEachern et al., Effectiveness and implementation of health and safety in small enterprises.

^{IV} Walters, Worker representation and health and safety in small enterprises in Europe.

^{IVI} Frick and Walters, Worker representation on health and safety in small enterprises.

^{Ivii} Vosko, L. (2006). Precarious employment: Towards an improved understanding of labour market insecurity. In L. Vosko (ed). *Precarious employment: Understanding labour market insecurity in Canada*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press. p.4

Bernstein, S., Lippel, K., Tucker, E and Vosko, L. (2006). Precarious employment and the law's flaws: Identifying regulatory failure and securing effective protection for workers. In L. Vosko (ed). *Precarious employment: Understanding labour market insecurity in Canada*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press. 203-220.

Lewchuk, W., de Wolff, A. and King, A. (2006). The hidden costs of precarious employment: Health and the employment relationship. In L. Vosko (ed.) *Precarious employment: Understanding labour market insecurity in Canada*. Montreal: McGill Queens University Press. 141–62.

D'Souza, R., Strazdins, L., Lim, L., Broom, D. and Rodgers, B. (2003). Work and health in a Contemporary Society: Demands, Control, and Insecurity', *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 57: 849–54.

Letourneux, V. (1998) *European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions: Precarious employment and working conditions in the European Union.* Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.

Pederson, H.H., Hansen, C.C. and Mahler, S. (2003) *Temporary Agency Work in the European Union*. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions.

Lewchuk, W., Clarke, M., and de Wolff, A. (2008). Working without commitment: Precarious employment and health. *Work, employment & society*. 22(3). 387-406.

Quinlain, M. and Bohle, P. (2009). Overstretched and unreciprocated commitment: Reviewing research on the occupational health and safety effects of downsizing and job insecurity. *International journal of health services*. 39(1). 1-44.

McNamara, M., Bohle, P. and Quinlin, M. (2011). Precarious employment, working hours, work-life conflict and health in hotel work. *Applied ergonomic*. 42: 225-232

^{Iviii} Aronsson, G. (1999). Contingent workers and health and safety. *Work, employment & society*. 15(3): 439–460.

^{lix} Mayhew et al., The effects of sub-contracting/outsourcing on occupational health and safety.

^{Ix} Hale, A. (1984). Is safety training worthwhile? *Journal of occupational accidents*. 6: 17-33. Goldberg, A., Dar-el, E. and Rubin, A. (1991). Threat perceptions and the readiness to participate in safety programs. *Journal of organizational behavior*. 12(2): 109-122.

^{Ixi} Ramsay, J., Denny, F., Szivotnyak, K., Thomas, J., Corneliuson, E. and Paxton, K. (2006). Identifying nursing hazards in the emergency department: A new approach to nursing job hazard analysis, *Journal of safety research*. 37(1): 63-74

^{Ixii} Walters, V. and Haines, T. (1988). Workers' use and knowledge of the 'internal responsibility system': Limits to participation in occupational health and safety. *Canadian public policy*. 14:411-23.

^{Ixiii} Kinn, S., Khuder, S., Bisesi, M. and Whoolley, S. (2000). Evaluation of safety orientation and training programs for reducing injuries in the plumbing and pipe fitting industry. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine*. 42(12): 1142-1147.

Dong, X., Entzel, P., Men, Y., Chowdhury, R. and Schneider, S. (2004). Effects of safety and health training programs on work-related injury among construction labourers. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine*. 46(12): 1222-1228.

Gillen, M., Baltz, D., Gassel, M., Kirsch, L. and Vaccaro, D. (2002). Perceived safety climate, job demands, and co-worker support among union and non-union injured construction workers. *Journal of safety research*. 33(1): 33-51.

Varonen, U. and Mattila, M. (2000). The safety climate and its relationship to safety practices, safety of the work environment and occupational accidents in eight wood-processing companies. *Accident analysis & prevention.* 32(6): 761-769.

Bahn, S and Barratt-Pugh, L. (2012). Emerging issues of health and safety training delivery in Australia: Quality and transferability. *Social and behavioral sciences*. 62: 213-222.

Vojteckt, M and Schmitz, M. (1986). Program evaluation and health and safety training. *Journal of safety research*. 17: 57-63.

^{lxiv} Burke, M., Salvador, R., Smith-Crowe, K., Chan-Serafin, S., Smith, A., and Sonesh, S. (2011). The dread factor: How hazards and safety training influence learning and performance. *Journal of applied psychology*. 96(1), 46-70.

Taylor, P., Russ-Eft, D. and Chan, D. (2005). A meta-analytic review of behavior modeling training. *Journal of applied psychology*. 90(4): 692-709.

Burke, M., Sarpy, S., Smith-Crowe, K., Chan-Serafin, S., Salvador, R. and Islam, G. (2006). Relative effectiveness of worker safety and health training methods. *American Journal of public health*. 96(2): 315-324.

Pidd, K. (2004). The impact of workplace support and identity on training transfer: A case study of drug and alcohol safety training in Australia. *International journal of training and development.* 8(4), 274-288.

^{Ixv} Bell, B. and Kozlowski, S. (2008). Active learning: Effects of core training design elements on self-regulatory processes, learning, and adaptability. *Journal of applied psychology*. 93(2): 296–316.

Keith, N. and Frese, M. (2008). Effectiveness of error management training: A metaanalysis. *Journal of applied psychology*. 93(1): 59–69. Hacker, W. (2003). Action regulation theory: A practical tool for the design of modern work processes? *European journal of work and organizational psychology*. 12(2): 105-130.

^{Ixvi} Bahn, S. and Barratt-Pugh, L. (2012). Evaluation of the mandatory Construction Induction Training program in Western Australia: Unanticipated consequences. *Evaluation and program planning.* 35(3): 337-343.

Derouin, R., Fritzsche, B. and Salas, E. (2005). E-learning in organizations. *Journal of management*. 31(6): 920 –940.

Withers, J., Freeman, S. and Kim, E. (2012). Learning and retention of chemical safety training information: A comparison of classroom versus computer-based formats on a college campus. *Journal of chemical health and safety.* 19(5): 47-55.

^{Ixvii} Bahn and Barratt-Pugh, Evaluation of the mandatory Construction Induction Training program in Western Australia.

Bahn, S and Barratt-Pugh, L. (2012). Emerging issues of health and safety training deliver in Australia: Quality and transferability. *Social and behavioral sciences*. 62: 213-222.

^{Ixviii} Pidd, The impact of workplace support and identity on training transfer.

^{lxix} Barbeau et al., Assessment of occupational safety and health programs in small businesses.

^{Ixx} Human Resources and Skills Development Canada and Statistics Canada. (2005). *Building on our Competencies: Canadian results of the International Adult Literacy and Skills Survey 2003*. Ottawa: Statistics Canada. Cat. No. 89-617-XIE.

^{Ixxi} Alberta. (2012). 2011 annual labour market review. Edmonton: Author.

^{Ixxii} Trajkovski, S. and Loosemore, M. (2006). Safety implications of low-English proficiency among migrant construction site operatives. *International journal of project management.* 24(5): 446-452.

^{Ixviii} Kish-Gephart, J., Detert, J., Trevino, L. and Edmondson, A. (2009). Silenced by fear: Psychological, social, and evolutionary drivers of voice behavior at work. *Research in organizational behavior*. 29: 163–193.

Leck, D. and Saunders, D. (1992). Hirschman's loyalty: Attitude or behavior? Employee responsibilities and rights journal. 5(3): 219–230

Rusbult, C., Farrell, D., Rogers, G. and Mainous, A. (1988). Impact of exchange variables on exit, voice, loyalty, and neglect: An integrative model of responses to declining job satisfaction. *Academy of management journal*. 31(3): 599–627.

Cree, T., & Kelloway, K. (1997). Responses to occupational hazards: Exit and participation. *Journal of occupational health psychology*. 2(4): 304–311.

Nelkin, D. and Brown, M. (1984). Observations on workers' perceptions of risk in dangerous trades. *Science, technology, & human values*. 9(2): 3-10.

^{lxxv} Tucker, S. and Turner, N. (2013). Waiting for safety responses by young Canadian workers to unsafe work. *Journal of safety research*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2013.01.006, Goldberg, A., Dar-el, E. and Rubin, A. (1991). Threat perceptions and the readiness to participate in safety programs. *Journal of organizational behavior.* 12(2): 109-122.

Rogers, K. and Kelloway, K. (1997). Violence at work: Personal and organizational outcomes. *Journal of occupational health psychology*. 2(1): 63-71.

^{bxvi} Farrell, D. and Rusbult, C. (1992). Exploring the exit, voice, loyalty and neglect typology: The influence of job satisfaction, quality of alternatives, an investment size. *Employee responsibilities and rights journal*. 5(3): 201-218.

^{bxvii} Milliken, F. and Morrison, E. (2003). Shades of silence: Emerging themes and future directions for research on silence in organizations. *Journal of management studies*. 40(6): 1563–1568.

^{Ixxviii} Bowen, F. and Blackmon, K. (2003). Spirals of silence: The dynamic effects of diversity on organizational voice. Journal of management studies. 40(6): 1393–1417.

Cortina, L. M., & Magley, V. J. (2003). Raising voice, risking retaliation: Events following interpersonal mistreatment in the workplace. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 8(4), 247–265.

Creed, W. (2003). Voice lessons: Tempered radicalism and the use of voice and silence. *Journal of management studies*. 40(6): 1503-1536.

^{Ixxix} Ashford, S. (1998). Championing charged issues: The case of gender-equity within organizations. In R. Kramer and M. Neale (eds.), *Power and influence in organizations*. Thousand Oaks: Sage. 349–380.

Detert, J. and Trevin^o, L. (2010). Speaking up to higher ups: How supervisors and skiplevel leaders influence employee voice. *Organization science*. 21(1): 249-270.

Milliken, F., Morrison, E. and Hewlin, P. (2003). An exploratory study of employee silence: Issues that employees don't communicate upward and why. *Journal of management studies*. 40(6): 1453-1473.

^{Ixxx} Miceli, M., Near, J. and Dworkin, T. (2008). *Whistle-blowing in organizations*. New York: Routledge.

Treviño, L. and Victor, B. (1992). Peer reporting of unethical behavior: A social context perspective. *Academy of management journal*. 35(1): 38–64.

Treviño, L., Weaver, G., Gibson, D. and Toffler, B. (1999). Managing ethics and legal compliance: What works and what hurts. *California management review*. 41(2): 131–151.

Treviño, L. and Youngblood, S. (1990). Bad apples in bad barrels: A causal analysis of ethical decision-making behavior. *Journal of applied psychology*. 75(4): 378–385.

^{boxi} Pinder, C. and Harlos, K. (2001). Employee silence: Quiescence and acquiescence as responses to perceived injustice. *Personnel and human resources management.* 20: 331-369.

Van Dyne, L., Ang, S. and Botero, I. (2003). Conceptualizing employee silence and employee voice as multidimensional constructs. *Journal of management studies*. 40(6): 1359–1392.

Milliken et al., An exploratory study of employee silence.

Dutton, J., Ashford, S., Lawrence, K. and Miner-Rubino, K. (2002). Red light, green light: Making sense of the organizational context for issue selling. *Organization science*. 13(4): 355-369.

^{Ixxxii} Izard, C. E. (1993). Four systems for emotion activation: Cognitive and noncognitive processes. *Psychological review*. 100(1): 68–90.

Maner, J. and Gerend, M. (2007). Motivationally selective risk judgments: Do fear and curiosity boost the boons or the banes? *Organizational behavior and human decision processes*. 103: 256–267.

Ohman, A. and Mineka, S. (2001). Fear, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological review*. 108(3): 483-522.

Kerr, N. and Levine, J. (2008). The detection of social exclusion: Evolution and beyond. *Group dynamics: Theory, research, and practice*. 12(1): 39–52.

^{Ixxxiii} Ohman, A. and Mineka, S. (2001). Fear, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological review*. 108(3): 483–522.

^{lxxxiv} Milliken et al., An exploratory study of employee silence.

Salska, I., Frederick, D., Pawlowski, B., Reilly, A., Laird, K. and Rudd, N. (2008). Conditional mate preference: Factors influencing preferences for height. *Personality and individual differences*. 44(1): 203–215.

Van Vugt, M., Hogan, R. and Kaiser, R. (2008). Leadership, followership, and evolution. *American psychologist*. 63(3): 182–196

Dovidio, J., Brown, C., Heltman, K., Ellyson, S. and Keating, C. (1988). Power displays between women and men in discussions of gender-linked tasks: A multichannel study. *Journal of personality and social psychology*. 55(4): 580–587.

^{boxv} Olsson, A. and Phelps, E. (2007). Social learning of fear. *Nature neuroscience*. 10(9): 1095-1102.

Field, A., Argyris, N. and Knowles, K. (2001). Who's afraid of the big bad wolf: A prospective paradigm to test Rachman's indirect pathways in children. *Behaviour research and therapy*. 39: 1259-1276.

Muris, P., Bogels, S., Meesters, C., der Kamp, N. and van Oosten, A. (1996). Parental rearing practices, fearfulness, and problem behavior in clinically referred children. *Personality and individual differences*. 21: 813–818

^{Ixxxvi} Morrison, E. and Milliken, F. (2000). Organizational silence: A barrier to change and development in a pluralistic world. *Academy of management review*. 25(4): 706–725.

^{Ixxxvii} Lerner, J. and Keltner, D. (2001). Fear, anger, and risk. *Journal of personality and social psychology*. 81(1): 146–159.

Maner and Gerend, Motivationally selective risk judgments.

^{bxxxviii} Magee, J. and Galinsky, A. (2008). Social hierarchy: The self-reinforcing nature of power and status. *Academy of management annals*. 2(1): 351–398.

^{Ixxxix} Goldberg et al., Threat perceptions and the readiness to participate in safety programs.

^{xc} Kish-Gephart et al., Silenced by fear.

^{xci} Donaghey, J., Cullinane, N, Dundon, T. and Wilkinson, A. (2011). Reconceptualizing employee silence: Problems and prognosis. *Work, employment & society*. 25(1): 51-67.

Pinder and Harlos, Employee silence.

^{xcii} Morrison, E. and Milliken, F. (2000). Organizational silence: A barrier to change and development in a pluralistic world. *Academy of management review*. 25(4): 706–725.

^{xciii} Lehane, P. and Stubbs, D. (2001). The perceptions of managers and accident subjects in the service industries towards slip and trip accidents. *Applied ergonomics*. 32(2): 119-126.

Lacroix, D. and Dejoy, D. (1989). Causal attribution to effort and supervisory response to workplace accidents. *Journal of occupational accidents*. 11(2): 97-109.

^{xciv} Reason, J., Parker, D. and Lawton, R. (1998). Organizational controls and safety: the varieties of rule-related behaviour. *Journal of occupational and organizational psychology*. 71(4): 289–298.

^{xcv} Turner, B. (1994). Causes of disaster: Sloppy management. *British journal of management*. 5(3): 215-219.

^{xcvi} Hopkins, A. (n.d.). A corporate dilemma: To be a learning organization or to minimize liability. Working Paper 43. National Research Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, Australian National University.

^{xcvii} Kahn, A. (1984). Social Psychology. Dubuque: Brown.

xcviii Milliken and Morrison, Shades of silence.

xcix Morrison and Milliken, Organizational silence.

^c Houser, D. (2010). Working hard and staying safe: Drilling rig hands in Alberta. *Reseach in economic anthropology*. 30: 331-349.

^{ci} Saha et al., An accident-risk assessment study of temporary piece rated workers.

Saha, A., Kumar, S., and Vasudevan, DM. (2008). Factors of occupational injury: A survey of a chemical company. *Industrial health*. 46(1): 152-157.

Morris, J. (1999). Injury experience of temporary workers in a manufacturing setting: Factors that increase vulnerability. *American Association of Occupational Health Nurses journal*. 47: 470–8.

^{cii} Mayhew et al., The effects of sub-contracting/outsourcing on occupational health and safety.

^{cili} Gray, G. (2002). A socio-legal ethnography of the right to refuse dangerous work. *Studies in law, politics and society*. 24: 133–169.

^{civ} Robinson, A. and Smallman, C. (2006). The contemporary British workplace: A safer and healthier place? *Work, employment & society*. 20: 87-107.

Johnstone and Quinlan, The OHS regulatory challenges posed by agency workers.

^{cv} Foster, J and Barnetson, B. (2012). Foreign migrant workers in Alberta. Paper presented at the 84th Canadian Political Science Association conference, June 13, Edmonton.

^{cvi} Barnetson, Worker safety in Alberta: Trading health for profit.

^{cvii} Vosko, L. and Clark, L. (2009). Canada: Gendered precariousness and social reproduction. In L. Vosko, M. MacDonald and I. Campbell (eds). *Gender and the contours of precarious employment*. New York: Routledge. 26-42.

Lewchuk, W., Clarke, M. and de Wolff, A. (2011). *Working without commitment: The health effects of precarious work*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.

^{cviii} Kome, P. (2006). The 10 percenters: Gender, nationality and occupational health in Canada. in V. Mogensen (ed). *Worker safety under siege: Labour, capital and thepolitics of workplace safety in a deregulated world.* Armonk: Sharpe.143-156.

Dembe, A. (1996). Occupation and disease: How social factors affect the conception of work-related disorders. New Haven: Yale University Press.

^{cix} Pinder and Harlos, Employee silence.

^{cx} Messing, *One-eyed science*.

^{cxi} Vicente, K. (2004). *The human factor: Revolutionizing the way people live with technology*. Toronto: Random House.

^{cxii} Morse, L. and Hinds, L. (1993). Women and ergonomics. *Occupational medicine: State of the art reviews.* 8(4).

Messing, One-eyed science.

^{cxiii} Messing, K. (1995). Chicken or egg: Biological differences and the sexual division of labour. In K. Messing, B. Neis and L. Dumais (eds). *Invisible: Issues in women's occupational health*. Charlottetown: Gynergy. 177-201.

^{cxiv} Barbeau et al., Assessment of occupational safety and health programs in small businesses.

^{cxv} Eakin, Towards a 'standpoint' perspective.

^{cxvi} MacEachern, E., Breslin, C., Kyle, N., Irvin, E., Kosny, A., Bigelow, P., Mahood, Q., Scott-Dixon, K., Morassaei, S., Facey, M., Changes, L., Couban, R., Shannon, H., Cullen, K. and Amick, B. (2008). Effectiveness and implementation of health and safety in small enterprises: A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative literature. Toronto: Institute for Work & Health.

^{cxvii} Papadopoulos, G., Georgiadou, P., Papazoglou, C. and Michaliou, K. (2010). Occupational and public health and safety in a changing work environment: An integrated approach for risk assessment and prevention. *Safety science*. 48(10): 943-949

^{cxviii} Leiter, M. and Harvie, P. (1998). Conditions for staff acceptance of organizational change: Burnout as a mediating construct. *Anxiety, stress, and coping.* 11: 1-25.

^{cxix} Coch, L. and French, J. (1948). Overcoming resistance to change. *Human relations*. 1: 512-532

^{cxx} Wanous, J., Reichers, A. and Austin, J. (2000). Cynicism about organizational change: Measurement, antecedents, and correlates. *Group and organization management.* 25: 132-153.

^{cxxi} Herscovitch, L. and Meyer, J. (2002). Commitment to organizational change: Extension of a three-component model. *Journal of applied psychology*. 87: 474-487.

WORKER PARTICIPATION IN HAZARD ASSESSMENTS

Recommended Practices

Darren Puscas

June 2013

Alberta Workers' Health Centre 600, 12323 Stony Plain Road, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5N 3Y5 Phone: 780-486-9009 Toll Free: 1-888-729-4879 Fax: 780-483-7632 General inquiries: info@workershealthcentre.ca Worker Participation in Hazard Assessment: Recommended Practices

June 2013

Darren Puscas

This research paper was commissioned by the Alberta Workers' Health Centre. The research was carried out as part of a broader AWHC project on worker participation in the hazard assessment process.

Copies are available online at: www.workershealthcentre.ca

For further information, contact:

Alberta Workers' Health Centre 600, 12323 Stony Plain Road, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T5N 3Y5 Phone: 780-486-9009 Toll Free: 1-888-729-4879 Fax: 780-483-7632 General inquiries: info@workershealthcentre.ca Worker Participation In Hazard Assessment – Recommended Practices Review of Literature

In order to inform the development of guidelines to promote worker participation in hazard assessment, the Alberta Workers Health Centre commissioned a review of recommended practices. This paper draws from currently recommended practices to promote worker participation in occupational health and safety (OHS). The review encompassed Canadian jurisdictions (Alberta, BC, Ontario), CSA standards and the European Union. A complete list of all documents consulted is found in Appendix 1.

Worker participation is generally recognized as fundamental to effective hazard assessment as they are most directly involved in the processes to be assessed. In most Canadian jurisdictions, hazard assessment is the responsibility of worker OHS representatives and/or joint committees. Worker participation in hazard assessment is viewed as not simply a right but as fundamental to effectively assessing hazards in the workplace. In this way, it is of value to all stakeholders, including workers, management and the broader public.

While there has been a stronger emphasis on worker participation in hazard assessment (also referred to as risk assessment) throughout Europe, Canadian organizations have become more and more aware of its vital importance, dedicating resources to develop further understanding. For example, the Worker Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB), in its Musculoskeletal Disorder (MSD) Prevention Guideline for Ontario, acknowledged the fundamental need for worker participation in assessing MSD hazards: "Workers can play an active role in the MSD prevention process by using their experience and knowledge to recognize and assess MSD hazards and to suggest effective solutions to manage and control them... [and by] being involved in planning and implementing changes to work tasks or jobs." This acknowledges workers as active participants in all aspects of the assessment process, including finding solutions and actively implementing needed changes.

Following are further arguments for implementing worker participation in hazard assessment:

"It is important that workers participate in the risk assessment. They know the problems and the details of what really happens when they perform their tasks or activities, so they should be involved in the assessment. Their practical knowledge or competence is also often needed to develop workable preventive measures. Workers' participation is not only a right, it is fundamental to make the employers' occupational health and safety management effective and efficient."

--- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work - Workers' roles and responsibilities in Risk Assessment

"It has been shown that successful Health and Safety Management Systems have high levels of worker involvement. Worker participation in the development of the system is particularly important to create ownership and overall buy-in into the system. Additionally, worker participation in the development of the Health and Safety Management System will help ensure a better fit with the culture of the organization. To promote worker participation, actively involve them in the development of hazard assessment, inspections, preventative maintenance, training, emergency response, and incident reporting systems. Look for opportunities to get workers from all areas of the organization involved, and provide regular updates on the progress of system development to keep the feedback loop open."

--- Government of Alberta, Building an Effective Health and Safety Management System

"A participatory approach is more productive than an officialistic [sic], rulebook-bound risk assessment. Working conditions contribute significantly to wide health inequalities. Workers with least control over their working conditions are more apt to face multiple risks. Participatory assessment can help to turn that trend around by giving a voice to those that currently lack one. They can inform changes to working conditions from their knowledge of what they are really like. Systematic participation by workers and workers' reps at all stages of risk assessment ensures that all risks will be properly considered and makes it easier to draw up a workable prevention plan."

--- European Trade Union Institute

The search for concrete examples of worker participation in hazard assessment produced two documents from the European Union: (1) the SOBANE participatory risk management strategy developed by Prof. J. Malchaire at the Unité Hygiène et Physiologie du travail at Université catholique de Louvain (UCL) in Belgium; and (2) a review of the European Union's Occupational Safety and Health Administration (EU-OSHA) case studies completed by the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. This report will look at each of these 'best practices' studies in turn.

 Malchaire, J. *The SOBANE Risk Management Strategy and the Déparis method for the Participatory screening of the risks*. FPS: Employment, Labour, and Social Dialogue Unité Hygiène et Physiologie du travail at Université catholique de Louvain (UCL) Belgium.

What is it?

The SOBANE is a risk management strategy developed by Prof. J. Malchaire at the Unité Hygiène et Physiologie du travail at Université catholique de Louvain (UCL) in Belgium. It is a progressive approach to risk management involving four levels: Screening (S), Observation (OB), Analysis (AN) and Expertise (E). The focus of the strategy is less on recognition of problems and more on finding solutions through the involvement of various partners in developing strategy, specifically employees, management, OHS practitioners and experts. This global approach to problems sees the whole (partners working together) as greater than the sum of the parts (individual partners). It stresses the absolute necessity of a participative approach where workers and local management are the main agents of assessment and partners (OHS practitioners and experts) play a complementary role.

When is worker participation encouraged?

Through the work collective (workers and local management), worker participation is encouraged at all four levels of the SOBANE approach. Worker participation is the sole means of risk assessment at both Level 1 (Screening) and Level 2 (Observation). Worker/local management participation is combined with involvement of OHS practitioners at Level 3 (Analytical) and with experts at Level 4 (Expertise). Level 1 Screening always takes place regardless of the nature of the problem. The other levels only take place if the previous level leads to a need for further assessment.

Table 1. Characteristics of the four levels of the SOBANE strateg				7
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4
	Screening	Observation	Analysis	Expertise
When?	All cases	If problem	In difficult cases	In complex cases
How?	Simple	Qualitative	Quantitative	Specialized
	observations	observations	observations	measurements
Cost?	Very low	Low	Average	High
	10 minutes per factor	2 hours	2 days	2 weeks
By whom?	Work collective	Work collective	Work collective	Work collective
			+ OHS practitioner	+ OHS practitioner
				+ Expert
Qualifications				
 work situation 	Very high	High	Average	Low
 health at work 	Low	Average	High	Specialized

Table 1: Characteristics of the four levels of the SOBANE strategy

As shown in Table 1 (p. 14), the work collective is involved at every level regardless of the level of expertise needed. The process accepts that workers have inherent expertise as the people performing the tasks, even if additional outside experts are required. Note that it is possible for only workers and local management to participate in the entire process without outside help if screening and/or observation solve the problem.

Fundamental Concepts of SOBANE strategy

The SOBANE strategy has a number of key concepts and assumptions which underpin it and must be understood and accepted for the process to be effective:

1) Focus on work situations - The aim is to get beyond looking simply at the tasks at hand and their potential risks to looking at the whole of worklife. This holistic approach focuses on the work situation which includes:

- all physical, organizational, psychological and social aspects of working life.
- all workers and management who depend on each other.

2) Risk factors - Risk factors refer to all aspects of the work situation that could cause damage. Risk is broader than hazard (which focuses on safety only), and those involved should have this broader understanding of risk. 3) Multidisciplinary approach - A multidisciplinary approach involves joint actions of several experts/practitioners moving towards the same goal. There can be different levels of integration of the multidisciplinary approach, but it needs to be a fundamental concept and requires a team spirit.

4) Main actors in prevention - Employees and local management must be main actors of prevention. No one has the knowledge of the work situation that workers and local management have. They know the situation, how things have worked and what they want.

5) Role of OHS Practitioners and Experts

a) Who are they? OHS practitioners include safety officers, occupational nurses, physicians, ergonomists and others who have been trained in Occupational Health and Safety. Experts are people from specialized labs (e.g. toxicology, mental load, stress).
b) Role - The OHS practitioner or expert brings her/his skills to a process that is already happening. Workers may have limited knowledge of risks but leading them will give them the impetus to figure out ways to work better and safer.

6) Special understanding of Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs)

SMEs have a greater risk factor, including higher accident rates. They are also often more reticent to make change than are larger enterprises. In attempting to get SMEs on board with participatory hazard assessment, special focus should be placed on the benefits to SMEs of having a Health and Safety strategy, such as better health, quality, production, safety and bottom line.

Participation of Workers

Participation should take place continually rather than only at specific moments and should be related to the whole process of work and the work situation. There are numerous imperatives that must be followed if the SOBANE strategy is to be effective.

It must be:

- voluntary - workers take part of their own free will without coercion

- direct workers are directly involved
- active partners must take part in local working groups

It must involve:

- partners on equal terms willing to be partners in participation
- building negotiated consensus with each other
- the "whole system of work" and the work situation
- a continuous process integrated into daily work
- employers unambiguously declaring objectives
- employers 'scrupulously respecting' the labour-management health and safety committees

It also must be combined with a verification system utilizing an OHS practitioner for technical risks to ensure they are not forgotten by new worker participants. This is because technical risks are high (e.g. fire risk).

One of the key questions the SOBANE method asks is whether or not a risk management process is consultative or participatory. Understanding the difference between consultation (e.g. questionnaires, surveys) and participation (worker control over issues discussed, steering of discussions, and decision making power) helps to clarify and to better assess the effectiveness of the hazard assessment process. A consultation process has workers naming the risks for management to make decisions on later. Both approaches are valuable if working in tandem, but if using consultation in isolation, it should not properly be considered full worker participation. (p.7-8).

Déparis (Level 1) Methodology

The paper goes most in-depth in laying out the methodology of Déparis (Level 1 of the SOBANE strategy). The Déparis method is simply the screening process used to initially determine risks and to review the work situation. A Déparis meeting involves both workers and management in determining potential hazards in the workplace. All aspects of work life

(technical, relational and organizational) are reviewed in the meeting. A coordinator is designated with agreement and direction of the employees.

The two main aspects of the Déparis method are:

1) Déparis Systematic Review

At Level 1 a systematic review by employees and technical management takes place. Eighteen aspects of the work situation are reviewed in order as they move from the general to the specific and they are addressed one-by-one. The 18 aspects to be reviewed are as follows:

Focus on the overall organization

- 1. Premises and working areas
- 2. Work organization

General security risks

- 3. Work accidents
- 4. Electricity, fire and explosions

Focus on individual workstations

- 5. Controls and signals
- 6. Work material, tools, machines
- 7. Work postures
- 8. Efforts and handling operations

Environmental hazards

- 9. Lighting
- 10. Noise
- 11. Radiations
- 12. Chemical and Biological hazards
- 13. Thermal environments

Psychosocial

- 14. Autonomy and individual responsibilities
- 15. Work content
- 16. Time constraints
- 17. Relationships between workers and with the hierarchy
- 18. Psychosocial environment

2) Formation of a discussion group/working group

The formation of a discussion group or working group is the main locus of participation. The discussion group is made up of two to four key workers designated by their colleagues. Other discussion group members designated by the employer must be accepted by the employees.

Participants are asked to consider the cost solutions proposed by the coordinator and their impact as well as who could implement the solution, how and when. After the meeting, the coordinator writes a synthesis which participants review.

For each facet of worker participation, the Déparis guide lists a series of points for workers and local management to follow, discuss and take notes on:

1) Who can implement improvements and when.

2) How much changes and improvements will cost. Workers are encouraged to look for cost solutions.

3) What needs to be studied further.

4) An overall assessment of priorities; which changes need to be acted upon with greater urgency utilizing a "green" "amber" and "red" system.

5) Who is to do what and when. This is done using already developed Déparis worksheets which contain numerous areas of focus for the groups to discuss. Some of the areas include workshops, work organization, falls, mechanical risks, loads, hand effects, lamps and noise.

Results:

Between 2003-2005, the Déparis guide was used in 80 meetings in 80 companies from nine different industrial sectors. The meetings led to an average of 12 proposals for improvement per meeting. Seventy-six percent of these proposals had little or no cost. Sixty percent of the solutions were very practical while the other 40% went beyond ordinary health and safety issues to work procedures, work quality and productivity.

There is a degree of time needed to complete this process that factors into how strong the results are. It takes time to convince employers and employees alike of the importance of the process. The meeting itself takes two hours and the time needed to complete the meeting report an additional two hours. Though this time commitment is significant, it is "definitely lower than the cost of interventions of consultants." (p.25).

B. 2012 European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, Members of the Topic Centre on Occupational Safety and Health, *Worker Participation Practices: A Review Of EU-OSHA Case Studies.* Contributors: Juliet Hassard, Dan Dan Wang, and Professor Tom Cox CBE (I-WHO), United Kingdom (Task leaders); Marie-Amélie Buffet, (EUROGIP), France; Roxane Gervais and Nikki Bell, (HSL), United Kingdom; Ferenc Kudász (OMFI), Hungary

While the SOBANE strategy described above provides a methodology for worker participation in hazard assessment, the EU-OSHA case studies provide a much more robust description of examples of worker participation in practice. Further, while not taken directly from the SOBANE strategy per se, many of the key methods of worker participation utilized throughout the case studies are similar to those advocated by SOBANE. This is especially true when looking at the large number of EU-OSHA cases utilizing work teams, as work teams are also central to the SOBANE approach.

Methods of Worker Participation

Effective worker participation is consistently shown to be a basic requirement for the successful identification of problems and implementation of practical solutions, regardless of the size or type of workplace or type of problem. The case studies exemplify this. Involvement of employees and their representatives to identify problems and develop solutions is crucial to success, as workers have firsthand experience of the work situation (p. 8).

Surveying the 161 case studies showed that the following are the most frequently employed means of worker participation:

- Work-teams, including such activities as meetings to discuss analysis results and analysis method solutions, trials to test teams' proposals and team presentation of ideas to management
- Surveys
- Workers council
- Local steering committee
- Interviews with worker representatives and workers in general
- Testing
- Workshop sessions
- Project evaluation questionnaires
- Staff representative survey
- Health circle meetings

Other worker participation methods utilized included:

- New management system incorporating staff involvement and communication
- Self assessment questionnaires
- Staff consultative meetings
- Workplace awards
- Brainstorming with workers
- Logbook for workers' ideas

- Ergonomic working group/improvement team
- Information exchange between workers
- Brainstorming with workers
- Workers consultations
- Course materials
- Joint prevention committee
- Trials and mock-ups involving employees
- Participation of representatives from different companies
- Discussion committees
- · Testing of solutions by workers
- Demonstrations, information days, news articles
- Joint management–worker representative training
- Employee ambassadors
- Employee feedback
- Interactive training sessions
- Contracts between labour and management to guarantee commitment
- Meetings with employees
- Employees were encouraged to share their stories
- Consultation with labour councils and employees' representatives
- Benchmarking and risk-assessment questionnaire
- Field studies
- Problem solving teams
- Staff meetings

- Health day
- Experience exchange groups
- Safety meetings
- Updating materials and manuals
- Participatory discussion
- Identify stresses
- Transparent communication channels
- Designated spokesperson for the workers
- Quality circles
- Testing new specifications
- Workshop design
- Joint brain storming
- Project implementation group
- Communication route for employee OHS concerns
- Collection of data
- Development of prevention strategies
- Formalized discussion of attitudes, awareness, knowledge of hazards
- Open and transparent policy for dealing with bullying, harassment and threats
- Tailor made questionnaires to obtain annual feedback
- Participation system
- Multidisciplinary working group to bring forward recommendations for action

Many of the cases involved consultation rather than participation according to the SOBANE definition. Surveying the 161 cases, it appears that 43 (26.7%) could be said to be consultative only while 118 (73.3%) would have at least one major participatory aspect.

Hazards Addressed

The numerous case studies give an extensive overview of the variety of means of worker participation in hazard assessment and the strategies employed to improve the process and improve health and safety in the workplace. A large variety of risks were seen to require worker participation throughout the case studies. A review of the 161 case studies shows a wide variety of types of risks:

- 39 High accident risk/frequency, physical danger
- 31 Mental strain or stress or burnout
- 28 MSDs
- 12 Multiple psychological and/or physical risks
- 12 Chemical hazards
- 12 Physical strain
- 9 Health/lifestyle risk
- 8 Violence, bullying, intimidation, and harassment
- 8 Noise
- 7 Psychosocial risks
- 7 Youth specific accident risks
- 3 Work-life balance
- 3 Disadvantaged groups specific risks (e.g. the temporary unemployed, underprivileged, immigrants and part-time students)
- 2 Addiction
- 2 Gender risks
- 2 Older worker specific risks
- 1 Fatigue

Best Practice Guidelines: Effective Worker Participation in Hazard Assessments

1 - Physical violence

1 - Mental intimidation or violence

Sample Case Studies

Case Study 9 - Programme for a safety hospital - 'safe care'

Sectorfondsen Zorg en Welzijn - hospital in Netherlands

Main problem: High incident rates of mental and physical violence, sexual intimidation and threats

Main action: Introduction of a zero-tolerance of violence scheme

Worker participation

1. The management and works councils agreed on the framework for action.

2. A working party comprised of staff from at-risk departments was created..

3. The working party created a risk inventory. Rooms were coloured based on risk level (red, yellow, green).

4. A 'card system' was used to break down the types of aggression.

5. A survey was carried out to find out when most incidents occurred.

6. Meetings every six weeks between management and staff were held to consult on risks and progress.

7. Training in customer relations, dealing with aggression and self-defense were provided.

Result: 30% drop in physical aggression and 27% drop in verbal aggression.

This case involved a very thorough use of worker participation focused on working group participation and a detailed process. They used a multitude of techniques, both consultative and participatory. The key appears to be the extent to which workers are involved at every step

through the working group. This fits with the SOBANE ideal of dedicated working groups at the core of recommended practices.

Case Study 16 - 'Work positive' – a stress management approach for SMEs – Health Education Board of Scotland (HEBS) and Health Safety Authority (HSA) in Ireland

United Kingdom - ENTEC UK

This was a case using a consultative approach, but it is included here because it is one of the few participation efforts focused on Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs), though it was not implemented by a SME itself. It was commissioned by the HEBS and the Irish HSA which hired a consultancy company to carry out the project.

Main problem: Work related stress

Worker Participation

Workers were asked to complete benchmarking and risk-assessment questionnaires regarding the stressors experienced in the workplace. A smaller number of workers were asked to complete risk assessment interviews.

Result: "97% of coordinators found the benchmark questionnaire was useful in identifying improvements in systems to reduce stress. 64% of all those who completed the risk-assessment questionnaire thought the questionnaire covered all the potential sources of stress in their organisation."

This case provides a possible way forward on workers' participation in hazard assessment in SMEs. Through government initiative, worker participation could be pooled beyond single enterprises which may not have the resources to plan and implement such a program.

Case Study 24 - 'Take care' – a team-based burnout intervention programme for oncology care providers

29 oncology wards in Netherlands

Main problem: Work related stress

Worker Participation

1. All staff members of the participating 29 oncology wards participated the questionnaire survey.

2. Staff support groups were created with the aim of finding solutions collectively for prevalent work stressors.

Training developed: small teams were formed that collectively designed, implemented, evaluated and re-formulated plans of action; trained in general communication and collaboration skills. The participants were their own 'agents of change' and the counselors their 'coaches'.
 Kick-off meetings were held on each ward to increase the staff's commitment to participate.

Results: A bit more subjective, but a qualitative evaluation showed that participants considered the approach to be useful for understanding work stressors and for building plans of action. Again, there was a focus on working groups where workers collaborate.

Case Study 46 - Avoiding manual handling using a vacuum device to lift meat

Denmark - Slagteriselskabet DANISH CROWN a.m.b.a. Meat Processing Plant

Main problem: Heavy meat lifted frequently was causing back problems for numerous employees. The aim was to develop a "meat magnet" to lift the slabs of meat based on worker participation in its development.

Worker Participation

Multi-pronged approach

- Consultative: Worker consultation and feedback throughout the project
- Participatory: Occupational Health Service worked with a special project group and the company's joint prevention committee. Safety representatives were involved in testing and then all employees were able to both discuss the project and test the new meat magnet.

Nearly all employees said the magnet was helpful for the tasks and 60% said it was reducing the strain on their backs, shoulders, wrists and other parts of their bodies.

The process used also had effects beyond the meat magnet. The interest of workers in participating in work environment improvement activities increased and ideas put forward by employees for technical innovations were implemented. The work environment and interactions between staff were also seen to have improved.

Case Study 56 - Use of participatory ergonomics to identify and solve high-risk tasks

United Kingdom - GlaxoSmithKline - Employee Health Management

Problem: MSDs were affecting workers at a pharmaceutical plant.

Worker Participation

Working group of workers - A dozen experienced workers were trained and formed the Ergonomic Improvement Team (EIT). They met regularly and sub-groups investigated specific aspects of the problem. The EIT investigated ergonomic problems in a variety of work settings and used video observation. Measures were launched with the full participation of the workers concerned.

This was a particularly effective example of worker participation. Within a year, 31 work system improvements had been achieved: "Twenty-five reduced workers' exposure to multiple risk factors through the introduction of new work equipment and ways of working or modifications to

the existing equipment or work layout. A 40% reduction in the number of MSDs attended to on site by the company physician was achieved."

Case Study 104 - Protocol for safe building renovation

Italy - Unità Funzionale di Prevenzione Igiene e Sicurezza nei Luoghi di Lavoro Alta Val d'Elsa, Azienda USL 7 di Siena

Renovation of a historic building into a luxury hotel complex

Worker Participation

Created a protocol agreement involving the workers and their representatives, the companies involved, and the contractors. Proposed measures for coordination on accident prevention. Involved workers and their representatives in the design stage to determine the nature of the work itself, the steps needed to be taken, and the risks to the workers' safety. Site technicians were involved in developing training on occupational safety and health. Trade unions were also involved in project development.

Results: Considerably lower accident rates than average at other construction sites.

Key quotations from the study's conclusions

The following quotations demonstrate the importance of active worker participation from the beginning to the end of the risk assessment process.

Managing risks to drivers in road transport (p. 151)

"The active participation of workers from the beginning and throughout the intervention was highlighted as a key success factor in a number of cases. In particular, it was found to increase the interest, engagement and motivation of drivers in participating in the programme and changing/adapting their working behaviours. Increasing the participation of workers was accomplished in a number of ways; for example, by having more experienced drivers deliver training and feedback sessions, and providing commentary on the development of OSH policies and organizational practices through surveys and focus groups."

Prevention of risks in construction (p. 152)

The case 'achieving employee participation in health and safety management systems' demonstrated that with commitment, and by making available adequate time and resources, cooperation with employees can be achieved, to the benefit of all concerned. A participative approach between the company and the workers council is a critical factor in the successful outcome, as was cooperation with outside experts.

In this case, employees were actively involved in the project from the very early stages and they were consulted throughout the process (e.g. launch event, analyzing the existing problems, proposing solutions, evaluating the results).

Safe maintenance in practice (p. 153)

"Although it is always good practice to involve the employees in the process of risk assessment, cases clearly demonstrate that for maintenance operations it is all the more necessary to involve in the process those who will carry out the work. Without their input, it is difficult to identify all hazards, analyze all the various aspects of the work and situations that might arise, and to decide on the most effective and suitable methods to control the risk involved.

It is important to involve workers in the maintenance management during the whole process, from planning to the final evaluation. Active employee participation in safety and health management is important to build ownership of safety at all levels and exploit the unique knowledge that employees have of their own work. Quite often they already know and can suggest practical ways of eliminating or mitigating the risks."

Prevention of risks in construction in practice (p154)

"A participative approach between the company and the workers council is a critical factor in the successful outcome, as was cooperation with outside experts. (page 52) In this case, employees were actively involved in the project from very early stages and they were consulted throughout the process, i.e. launch event, analysing the existing problems, proposing solutions, evaluating the results."

Conclusion

The above EU-OSHA case studies, the quotations and the authors' findings were chosen to offer a snapshot of the various types of hazards dealt with in workplaces and to show a variety of means of participation that have proven effective in assessing these hazards. Work-team assessment was proven to be effective in a number of the cases, as were questionnaires, risk assessment interviews and surveys. Many of these sample cases and quotations showed the value of having worker participation take place throughout the process and in a collegial, nonthreatening atmosphere. For example, Case Study 9 - Programme for a safety hospital, shows the importance of working group participation and a detailed approach that workers are directly involved in from the very beginning of the hazard assessment process.

The cases and quotations further show the importance of collaboration between workers, management and outside experts as suggested was necessary in the Déparis methodology in the previous section. For example, Case Study 56 (use of participatory ergonomics) shows the value of having management, workers and outside experts involved in the process from the beginning. Further, it shows the value, indeed necessity, of voluntary, direct and active participation of workers.

Some conclusions of the authors:

"Clear evidence to suggest that organizations, irrespective of their size or type of industrial activity, that have good worker participation as a key component of their health and safety system are safer and healthier places to work" (p.160).

"does not have to be complex; indeed often simple approaches and measures can be effective" (p.160).

"benefits beyond improving health and safety management: higher motivation and performance, fewer intentions to quit, and decreased turnover" (p.160).

Active worker participation in the interventions reviewed can be linked with: -significant observed reductions in injuries and enhanced occupational health [reduced costs]; -decreases in sickness absence; -improvements in employee morale and generation of practical solutions to workplace problems;

-improvements in employee morale and generation of practical solutions to workprace problems
-enhanced organizational communication and clearer objectives; and
-assisting in the development of safe systems at work that are shaped by operational reality.
(p.160)

C. Conclusions from the two studies

There is a significant amount of support for worker participation in hazard assessment in Europe and there are numerous examples of its successful implementation. Both studies made clear that effective worker participation would include active participation from beginning to end, make available adequate time and resources and involve cooperation of outside experts. It also must involve "whole system of work" and the work situation.

The most successful implementations are those that included a multitude of strategies, both consultative and participatory. This includes work-teams, surveys, local steering committees, testing, workshop sessions, questionnaires and health circle meetings. That said, the single most effective means of worker participation in hazard assessment is through dedicated work teams with real decision making power, joint decision making power or, at minimum, channels of strong influence that go beyond basic consultation.

Worker participation must be voluntary, direct and active with all partners on equal terms as they build a negotiated consensus. It became clear that for any participatory assessment strategy to work, workers had to feel they could trust management when they spoke up and, as a corollary, employers needed to 'buy in' and 'scrupulously respect' the labour-management health and safety.

It is important to highlight that the vast majority of these cases involved large scale enterprises with the means to implement these sometimes elaborate worker participation schemes. Nevertheless, there were a few cases that provided a bit of a roadmap for workers' participation in hazard assessment in SMEs. One case in particular, coordinated by the Irish and Scottish governments (profiled in this report), showed how government involvement and pooling of resources could alleviate some of the limitations faced by SMEs in implementing workers' participation initiatives. There was also a successful ergonomics program set up for Finnish SMEs (Case Study 48) by the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health that also used this 'pooling' approach.

Appendix A: Documents Consulted

Danish Working Environment Council for the private sector of office and administrative work (Bar Kontor), 2005. Workplace Assessment in Place? Sector Guidance on Workplace in Office Workplaces

http://www.barkontor.dk/Files/Billeder/BARkontor/pdf/Sector_Guide_on_Workplace_in_Office _Workplaces_netudgave.pdf

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work "Worker Participation in safety and health" https://osha.europa.eu/en/topics/worker-participation/index_html#Risk_Assessments

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2012. "Worker participation practices: a review of EU-OSHA case studies Literature review". Ed. Juliet Hassard, Dan Dan Wang, and Professor Tom Cox CBE (I-WHO), United Kingdom (Task leaders), Marie-Amélie Buffet, (EUROGIP), France, Roxane Gervais and Nikki Bell, (HSL), United Kingdom, Ferenc Kudász (OMFI), Hungary https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/literature_reviews/worker-participation-practices-a-review-of-eu-osha-case-studies

European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, "Workers' roles and responsibilities" in risk Assessment https://osha.europa.eu/en/topics/riskassessment/workers_role

European Trade Union Institute. "Workers' Participation and Risk Assessment resources" <u>http://www.etui.org/Topics/Health-Safety/Safety-reps/Workers-participation-and-risk-</u>assessment

Government of Alberta. "Building an Effective Health and Safety Management System." Partnerships in Injury reduction. <u>http://humanservices.alberta.ca/documents/whs-ps-building.pdf</u>

Hazards Magazine, 1997 "Mapping Out Work Hazards" http://www.hazards.org/diyresearch/riskmapping.pdf

Malchaire, J. "The SOBANE Risk Management Strategy and the Déparis method for the Participatory screening of the risks." FPS: Employment, Labour, and Social Dialogue Unité Hygiène et Physiologie du travail at Université catholique de Louvain (UCL) Belgium

Occupational Health and Safety Council of Ontario (OHSCO), "Part 1: MSD Prevention Guideline for Ontario", Musculoskeletal Disorders Prevention Series http://www.wsib.on.ca/files/Content/Downloadable%20FileMSD%20Guideline/OntMSDPrevGu ideline.pdf Ontario Ministry of Labour, 2012 "Musculoskeletal Disorders / Ergonomics resources" http://www.labour.gov.on.ca/english/hs/topics/pains.php

SOBANE Unité Hygiène et Physiologie du Travail DEPARIS documents http://www.deparisnet.be/DeparisEngl.htm

Worksafe B.C. "What is Risk Assessment" FAQ http://www2.worksafebc.com/topics/ergonomics/FAQ.asp?ReportID=33232